2018 ANNUAL
FINANCIAL REPORT

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
as at 31 December 2018

Limited liability company (Société Anonyme) with capital of €1,373,248.08
Head office: 1 Rue Jacqueline Auriol, 35235 Thorigné-Fouillard
477 840 441 RCS RENNES
Legal Entity Identifier: 969500SCFBLZQTVIG483

INTRODUCTION
Kerlink has distinguished itself in France and around the
world through the high quality of its know-how and its
multitechnology skills.
The Group offers its solutions in the Internet of Things market.
Its mission is to offer its customers, historic and alternative
telecom carriers and private carriers network solutions
(equipment, software and services).
Avid for change and new challenges in a constantly-changing
world, the Group is positioned as the world reference for the
supply of equipment and services allowing the deployment
of IoT networks.
The skills of the teams are undoubtedly rich in diversity
and expertise in their field of intervention. Everyone’s daily
commitment is resolutely focused on customer satisfaction.
The evolution of governance and the implementation of a
new organization are aimed at supporting the company’s
sustainability and building the Kerlink of tomorrow.
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A WORD FROM THE
CHAIRMAN
Henceforth, the ambition announced
is
to
re-establish
growth as from 2019, while controlling
operating
expenses.

Dear Shareholders,
After a very buoyant 2017, the
market for the sale of solutions
dedicated to the Internet of
Things was affected in 2018 by
the leading historic telecommunications operators delaying major network roll-outs.

With this in mind, the Group undertook a plan of action structured
around several strategic focuses:
• reinforcing the technological
lead by moving up the value
chain,
• speeding up growth with private operators by proposing

•

•
Our Group, an international supplier of network connectivity
solutions for the Internet of Things
aimed at telecommunication
operators, companies and public authorities, was affected by
this slowdown. This was reflected
by a level of activity lower than
expected, with revenue slightly more than €17 million, which
automatically weighed on the
results for the financial year.
An extremely positive point, the
gross margin was more than 40% of
revenue, driven by the increased
contribution of sales of services.
This performance strengthens our
dual business model which combines sales of infrastructure hardware and recurring services offers.
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•

value-added services in the
most profitable vertical segments,
providing support for the historic telecommunications operators’ the conversion to IoT
networks,
supporting the build-up of services and
increasing penetration on
markets with strong potential
in Asia and the Americas.

In the short term, the activity’s
growth should be based more on
private and alternative operators
who will favour creating their own
network to deploy their IoT solution.
The Group has therefore initiated
an offensive approach with the
aim of developing strategic partnerships and to constitute an ecosystem so as to propose end-toend offers on each of the markets
identified as priorities: Smart Airports, Smart Logistics & Asset Tracking, Smart Cities & Towns, Smart
Industry & Smart Manufacturing.

I am convinced that we will rapidly set out the details of our plan of
action. In fact, our Group relies on
robust fundamentals: an IoT market with strong development expected on an international scale,
a winning technological positioning with recognised expertise in the
LPWA IoT, an established competitive position as undisputed leader
of stations integrating the LoRa®
technology and, of course, a position on the entire value chain,
on infrastructures and services.
The KERLINK Group has been listed on Euronext Growth Paris since
May 2016. Its performances and
your support over time enabled it
to be integrated into the EnterNext
PEA-PME 150 index in 2017 and to
join the Tech 40 index in April 2018.
We would like to thank you for
the confidence you have shown
in our Group and its employees. Your confidence is their daily commitment. It rewards their
devotion to KERLINK. Their hard
work, their entrepreneurship, their
creativity and their sense of innovation move our Group forward.

WILLIAM GOUESBET
CHAIRMAN & CEO,
KERLINK GROUP
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HIGHLIGHTS OF
THE YEAR
Jan ua ry
Kerlink SA opened its doors to investors,
financial journalists as well as to the
Chairman of Rennes

Métropole.

Site visits over three days.

In January 2018, the Group implemented a new strategic model based on two Business Units
See Profile & Governance - Business Units P 60-61
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Feb rua ry
Presentation of the Group’s solutions in the port of Barcelona during the 2018 edition of the

Mobile World Congress.

Obtaining a revised version of the
certification: -

ISO 9001 - 2015

In collaboration with DataLong16, the teams presented

Certificate granted by Lloyd’s Re-

the

deployment

port

gister Quality Assurance (LRQA), wit-

of

Barcelona

moni-

hin the scope of the design, develop-

tor

and

port.

ment and sale process for its network

In addition to determining the exact location of the port’s 10

solutions for the Internet of Things.

assign

of
to

a
help

pilot
the

maintenance

loT

network
port

in

the

authorities

personnel

in

the

maintenance vehicles in real time, the application enables
the authorities to respond to calls with requests for urgent action on the facilities and equipment, by despatching personnel closest to the location concerned to carry out repairs.

Kerlink announces its investment in the American company
Microshare: a leader in storage, sharing and security in IoT data.
The

MicroshareTM solution proposes data management

which enables their sharing, storage and controlled access,
in a highly scalable architecture, while retaining their private
nature, their security, their confidentiality and their context,
and offering simple access thanks to a unique set of ready-touse application programming interfaces (APIs).
The partnership with Microshare supports the Kerlink strategy of
moving upwards in the IoT value chain, beyond its own core
expertise in the infrastructure and operational management
of the network, and to extend the range of its added value
services. The agreement consolidates its network-as-a-service
model by increasing its customers’ abilities, whether private or
public loT network operators, to store data in the cloud and
to create new sources of income by accurately managing
secure sharing with users.
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Marc h

Kerlink was selected to accompany and take part in the
State visit made to India by the French President Emmanuel Macron. – CEO FORUM
Photo: Meetings in the economic sector with President Emmanuel
Macron and the Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi

Apr i l

Kerlink is included in the

Tech 40 index of the most outstanding technological SMEs

on the Euronext markets.
Listed companies are nominated by an independent group of European experts, on
the basis of their commercial, financial and stock market performances. The investors’
interest in the secondary markets is a reflection of the growing role of the Tech 40 certification, as the companies certified Tech 40 had access to more liquidities by joining
this index (+56% on average).

Kerlink appears in the

FT1000 European classification of companies with the

strongest growth.
The FT1000 classification lists the 1,000 European companies which achieved the
highest annual average growth rate during this period. The classification, established by the Financial Times and Statista, monitors companies in a wide spectrum
of industries in addition to telecommunications, including advertising, construction,
e-commerce, energy, finance, food, mass marketing, services, leisure activities
and other sectors.
Kerlink rose to 10th place among companies in the telecommunications sector and
to 563rd place in the classification, with income growth of 290% and an average
annual growth rate of 57.4% over the 2013-2016 period. The company recorded
revenue of €14.1 million during financial year 2016.

Spurred by the success of their partnership initiated in September 2017, the Group
contributed to the development of the

LoRaWan Academy by providing more

and more equipment to the universities with the aim of making it easier to access the
LoRaWanTM network.
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« Long before the ‘Internet of Things’ became a commonly used term, Kerlink
foresaw the role that RF communications technologies and their associated
support platforms could play in fleet management, freight logistics, telemetry
and other low-bandwidth applications. That technological insight still prevails at
Kerlink, which is not only a global leader in LoRa IoT network solutions, but has also
continued to expand its business model with a market-responsive, network-asa-service (NaaS) program, reference design and geolocation that help companies large and small design, deploy and operate their own IoT networks.

»

Johan Fagerberg - Founder and CEO at Berg Insight
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May
Interview with Stéphane DEJEAN, Chief Marketing Officer, by analyst Fredrik Stâlbrand from Berg
an article in the IoT

Insight for

Now magazine.

INTERVIEW

Simplify and accelerate IoT network
design, deployment and operation
with end-to-end turnkey solutions
Stéphane Dejean, the chief marketing officer at Kerlink, tells Fredrik Stålbrand, a
senior analyst at Berg Insight, about Kerlink’s evolving positioning as a Network-asa-Service (NaaS) provider and its activities in the market for private low power
wide area (LPWA) networks

Stéphane Dejean: Kerlink was founded in 2004
by two engineers with strong expertise in radio
frequency (RF) communications for the M2M
market. The business was originally dedicated to

addressing two IoT use cases – fleet management
and smart metering, but Kerlink has continuously
added new solutions to its portfolio. The
company launched the world’s first LoRaWAN
gateway in early 2014 and co-founded the LoRa
Alliance together with partners in 2015. Today, we
are one of the largest providers of infrastructure
equipment for LoRaWAN IoT networks. We
▼

Fredrik Stålbrand: Could you start by giving us
an introduction to Kerlink and outline your
offerings for the LPWA market?

INTERVIEW
K E R L I N K - 2 0 1 8 A N N U A L RSPONSORED
EPORT
36
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recently also enhanced our portfolio with valueadded services to streamline network operations
and to support innovative business models and
monetisation of opportunities in the IoT domain.
In addition, Kerlink has been listed on the
Euronext Growth Paris Stock Exchange since May
2016. We have quickly built a strong track record
of LPWA deployments and serve many leading
telecoms operators, as well as private network
operators worldwide.
FS: During 2017, Kerlink organised its
operations into two business units. What are
the focus areas of these new business units?
SD: The evolution of our organisation was a
strategic decision that we took to maintain
Kerlink’s agility. We have separated our activities
to accelerate our business transformation around
services and applications. Kerlink Infrastructure
Solutions now covers the portfolio of carriergrade network-related infrastructure,
management solutions and professional services.
Kerlink Advanced Services focuses on designing
and deploying our reference design, device
management and geolocation solutions. The
portfolios of these business units are
complementary, but the solutions can also be
sold separately. For example, our geolocation
solution can be deployed on top of a third-party
LoRaWAN network. Openness of our solutions
and interoperability are key for us.
FS: Have you added any products to your
portfolio in the past year?
SD: On the infrastructure side, we extended our
portfolio with the core network management
solution Wanesy Management Center and an
indoor gateway. The Wanesy Management Center
is a very modular and complete solution that
provides comprehensive tools for network
monitoring and control via self-service portals
and Application Programme Interfaces (APIs).
The platform supports Kerlink’s Wirnet series of
gateways, but is also compatible with third-party
gateways. On the services side, we have added
solutions for device management and geolocation,
as well as the Kerlink reference design offering,
which is a package of hardware, software,
development tools and guidelines. These
solutions help service providers and developers
to design, bring-to-market and efficiently manage
their fleets of connected objects. Geolocation is a
strategic focus for Kerlink and we are convinced
that it can add a lot of value to enterprises in a
range of vertical industries.
FS: Kerlink has set an aggressive revenue target
of €70m for 2020, compared to about €25m in
2017. What is the company’s strategy to reach
this target?

IoT Now - Q2 2018
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SD: It is built on a mix of increasing our global
reach, adding value-added services to our
portfolio, crystallising the appropriate ecosystem
of partners like application-enablement platform
providers, and targeting new types of prospects
and segments. For example, the Kerlink reference
design solution targets companies that are interested
in integrating LoRa connectivity in their devices.
We are also developing a partner programme and
actively recruiting value-added resellers and system
integrators to strengthen our sales channels. This
will also enable Kerlink to better address the needs
of local and regional partners. Over the past five
years, the company has achieved a compound
annual revenue growth rate of 62%, so we are
confident of reaching our 2020 revenue target.

Stéphane Dejean,
Kerlink

FS: How do the requirements differ between the
two major customer groups that you serve –
public telecom operators and private network
operators?
SD: Let me start by clarifying the distinction
between these two groups. Public operators
comprise traditional mobile network operators
such as KPN, Proximus, Orange and Tata
Communications that we are supplying, but also
newcomers, like cable operators and tower
companies that are using this new technology to
deploy networks and make the service publicly
available. Since the technology uses unlicensed
bands, companies don’t need a licence to deploy
the network, which lowers the barriers to entry.
Private network operators typically include large
utilities and industrial companies and smart cities
that are more focused on specific applications
and use cases. While public telecoms operators
require carrier-grade solutions along with robust
network management services, private network
operators deploy simpler solutions with a
straightforward user experience.
FS: What solutions does Kerlink offer for
private network operators?
SD: Kerlink’s one-stop-shop value proposition for
private network operators encompasses turnkey
IoT network solutions that enable companies or
cities of all sizes to design and deploy their own
IoT networks and manage their operation. We
also offer professional support to help customers
model and design scalable IoT networks, which
significantly accelerates activation. In addition,
our network management solution, Wanesy
Management Center, supports multiple
deployment options, including on-premises and
SaaS. We have also formed a partnership with
Microshare, a US-based IoT data management
company, to complement Kerlink’s network
offering with a highly scalable data collection,
enrichment, storage and sharing solution that
allows businesses to securely monetise their data.

Fredrik Stålbrand,
Berg Insight

Kerlink’s one-stopshop value
proposition for private
network operators
encompasses turnkey
IoT network solutions
that enable companies
or cities of all sizes to
design and deploy
their own IoT network
and manage its
operation

www.kerlink.com
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Jun e

Market launch of the WirnetTM iBTS 64 Highway
Presentation and demonstration of the Group’s solutions at
the 10th Open House LoRa AllianceTM in Vancouver.
A turnkey offer (equipment and services) offered under a
single contract for the design, operation and maintenance
of IoT networks in order to simplify access to IoT networks
for our customers and reduce their total cost of ownership
(TCO).

This comprehensive and complete on-demand network proposal

Network-as-a-Service - NaaS

offers our customers the best of both worlds. It includes not only the most recognized and widely deployed carrier-class LoRaWANTM stations in the industry, including the new WirnetTM iBTS 64 Highway reference, our 64-channel station offering simultaneous transmission and reception (full duplex) communications. It is also offered with a complete turnkey solution for LoRaWANTM network management services.
This product specific to the American markets has the greatest communications capacity on the market and
the most robust engineering making reliable and secure IoT connectivity possible.
With the same modular architecture as the whole Wirnet iBTS range, the most recent benefits as well from a
patented modular architecture offering matchless functionality and comfort for use. Kerlink capitalised upon
four years’ experience in the field with leading network suppliers to facilitate the integration and maintenance of the new station, while integrating high-quality duplexers to ensure exceptional resistance to interferences, when 72 reception channels (64 x 25 kHz and 8 x 500 kHz) and 8 dedicated transmission channels
guarantee total availability for the most demanding applications for the Smart City or the Smart Industry.
The WirnetTM iBTS 64 Highway is available in an end-to-end loT network connectivity offer as a turnkey service
(Network as a Service).

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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Google Cloud joins the LoRaTM Alliance
This news was announced at the opening of the 10th Open House of
the LoRa™ Alliance in Vancouver, the worldwide association of companies which support the low-power wide-area (LPWA)LoRaWAN™
open-source standard for IoT networks. Google Cloud announced that
it would join the LoRa™ Alliance as a Sponsor member. Earlier in the
year, Kerlink and Microshare, both active members of the LoRa™ Alliance, had already signed a partnership around the development of
LoRaWAN™ IoT solutions, now extended to Google Cloud.

Kerlink, as well as an international group of leaders of the intelligent city market, intelligent energy sectors and IoT networks,
formed an alliance to develop a multi-protocol open source
wireless network and a data model which will open up these markets by eliminating their dependence on proprietary solutions.

Smart Internet of Things projects for managing public lighting, parking, traffic, waste collection, electricity networks, metering

and

other

applications

are

permanently

launched

by the cities and towns or public services all over the world.
But the network proprietors come up against an obstacle to integrating several proprietary systems and APIs to cope with dependence on
single suppliers for the hardware or the software layers of the network.
The founding members of the
uCIFI Alliance

The group’s objective is to free end customers from their dependence on single suppliers and to significantly reduce the complexity for suppliers and systems integrators so they can supply data
and services consistently, regardless of the underlying network.
With the LPWAN networks, each appliance supplier has its own data format, cloud and API. Moreover, there are only proprietary solutions available with long-range meshed networks with frequencies less than the
gigahertz (GHz). The founding companies of the uCIFI Alliance, as well
as the towns/cities and public services which support this open initiative,
share a common view by which these markets will be open if the towns/cities and public services can choose between the products of competing
suppliers but which are interoperable based on an open source code.
More : www.ucifi.com

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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Low power wide area networks (LPWAN) are currently one of the fastest
Stéphane DEJEAN growing
plays the communication
Q&A game with technologies in the world, with several
companies experiencing double digit growth. Kerlink, a France-based
Eugenio Pasqua, for the publication of a seprovider of end-to-end network solutions for the Internet of Things (IoT),
cond article in IoT Now magazine.
TALKING HEADS
has been among the most active within this space
where it has built a
strong track record of LPWAN deployments in several market segments
and regions. Eugenio Pasqua, the principal analyst at IoT Analytics, spoke
to Stéphane Dejean, the chief marketing officer at Kerlink, to discuss the
company’s view of the LPWAN market and the current momentum of
private networks deployments
Consolidation of technologies
creates efficient IoT
management through a
single pane of glass
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AGRICULTURE

IoT efficiency in
the ﬁeld. See our
Analyst Report at
www.iot-now.com

INDUSTRIAL

How IoT is improving
operations. Read our
exclusive analyst report
inside this issue

IoT GLOBAL NETWORK

Log on at
www.iotglobalnetwork.com
to discover our new portal for
products, services and insight

PLUS: 6-PAGE INDUSTRIAL IoT INSIGHT REPORT – Why blockchain's encounters with IoT go way beyond bitcoin
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gateways • IoT Analytics report on IoT platforms • Are cities getting smarter? • Latest news online at www.iot-now.com

Low power connectivity
powers up across IoT
Stéphane Dejean: LPWANs cover a new
generation of unlicensed, wireless long-range
connectivity solutions, specifically designed for
IoT applications. These technologies operate in
licence-free industrial, scientific and medical
(ISM) sub-1GHz spectrum bands. LoRaWAN,
based on Semtech’s LoRa wireless radio
technology, is the leading LPWAN protocol,
with many field deployments in various
verticals around the world. The LoRaWAN
ecosystem promotes both public and private
network business models, whereas Sigfox
opted for a mobile network operator model.
We also see increasing coordination on the
LoRaWAN protocol by European
standardisation bodies – like CEPT and ETSI –
assuring future-proof investment for customers.
LoRaWAN technology provides long-range
communication and deep indoor penetration,
making it possible to reach meters and sensors
located in basements, elevators shafts and
underground. It also offers higher robustness
than narrowband cellular schemes in noisy
channel conditions and is better at mitigating
interference. In addition, the technology was
designed for energy efficient communication.
Its asynchronous communication pattern wakes
up devices only when they have data to send,
and then puts them back into a power-saving
sleep mode directly, or once their transmission
is acknowledged. The network’s Adaptive Data

Rate feature also adjusts data rates according
to the distance between sensors and gateways,
which reduces time on-air and optimises power
consumption. This capability increases
networks’ scalability and capacity to support
thousands of end-devices and millions of
messages.
Moreover, LoRaWANs enable fully bidirectional
communication for use cases requiring both
uplinks and downlinks, and they offer native,
energy-efficient, cost-effective and secure
network-based geolocation for any type of
LoRa-connected assets. These are two key
differentiators with Sigfox. Finally, LoRaWANs
offer two native layers of end-to-end security:
first, through the mutual authentication
between the device and the network during the
network join procedure, and second through an
encryption layer for the application payload.
EP: With the market entrance of licensed
3GPP standards (NB-IoT, LTE-M), discussions
about which LPWAN technology is better
suited to address the needs of IoT
applications have soared. Could you share
your view on the matter?
SD: We believe existing solutions are
complementary, and we expect future solutions
to be, as well. But there are noteworthy
differences between the technologies. LoRa’s
unique spread-spectrum modulation makes the
deployment of LoRa networks globally two to
three times less expensive than traditionally
operated cellular-based LPWA alternatives, and
with superior coverage. This brings more
▼

Eugenio Pasqua: The topic of LPWANs is
becoming increasingly complex. To start, can
we give a simple explanation of what
LPWANs such as LoRa/Sigfox are?

SPONSORED INTERVIEW
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Asynchronous communication and Adaptative
Data Rate are a direct benefit compared to
licensed LPWAN technologies that use a
constant data rate regardless of the environment
and transmission conditions. This makes it quite
challenging to ensure a battery lifetime of up to
and beyond ten years. LoRaWANs are also one of
the few IoT networks implementing built-in, endto-end encryption for application payloads
exchanged between the end devices and
application servers. In short, Kerlink expects
technology segmentation will progressively
crystalize around customer use cases and
business requirements.
EP: Some end users I spoke to in the past felt
that discussions about LPWAN technologies
were focusing too much on their capabilities
rather than on the business benefits they could
deliver to customers. Do you think this is still
the case today?

SD: Unlicensed LPWAN solutions, and especially
LoRaWAN, are bringing to market a brand new
and exciting alternative to businesses and
government administrations by offering them the
ability to deploy, operate and monetise a carriergrade IoT network, simply and efficiently, on their
own. This corresponds to an expanding demand
from end-users that are willing to consider these
networks as key assets that they need to control,
financially and/or operationally, and that they can
use to respond to their increasing and various
needs. Key supports for such a choice potentially
include the desire for increased autonomy/
independence in the way connectivity solutions
are implemented and operated, a better trade-off
between financial conditions and business
models over time, and a more reactive indoor
and outdoor coverage optimisation for
demanding use cases.
Customers also may consider more flexible and
scalable tailored network capabilities and
capacities, or the ability to rely on a partner that
can quickly and easily adapt to evolving
collaboration models between several parties.
The customers’ choice essentially depends on
their strategic objectives and business plans.
LPWANs are an alternative to consider as it
▼

accurate anticipation of total cost of ownership
(TCO) and return on investment (ROI) for
customers, along with faster and simpler
deployments. In addition, the LoRa Alliance,
through its open protocol approach, ensures that
the protocol is royalty free. Contrast that with
cellular-based technologies that operate in costly
licensed spectrum and incur intellectual property
(IP) royalties, thus increasing network equipment
and module costs, while encouraging
connectivity plans that do not fit the emerging
diversity of IoT business models.

Successful LPWAN
companies will focus
on their customers’
business needs and
pain points and note
how an IoT network
designed for them
specifically will
address those
challenges

SD: Clearly demonstrating the benefits of our
solutions is an ongoing challenge. You hear a lot
about technological bells and whistles, which is
sometimes confusing to end-users. Successful
LPWAN companies will focus on their customers’
business needs and pain points and note how an
IoT network designed for them specifically will
address those challenges. The IoT companies
then must work jointly with customers to identify
how all this new data can be used to streamline
operations, improve efficiency, differentiate from
competitors and generate additional revenue.
As a co-founder and board member of the LoRa
Alliance, we are contributing to several initiatives
to better target our communications. We cobrand use cases with some of our partners to
demonstrate the benefits of our combined
LoRaWAN building blocks. We also work with
application providers on white papers and
demos to articulate the key benefits of our
solutions from the customer’s operational
perspective. In each vertical segment, we
want to work with recognised value-added
partners to jointly build relevant turnkey
solutions that make sense for customers.
EP: Customers who want to deploy
solutions based on LPWAN technologies
are also faced with the choice between
public and private network
deployments. What are the main
criteria they should consider when
making such a decision?

IoT Now - Q3 2018
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Stéphane Dejean,
Kerlink
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answers both technical benefits for the
business and financial advantages, while
bringing the openness and richness of a
thriving ecosystem. The LoRa Alliance includes
more than 500 members with expertise in the
entire IoT value chain and has many validated
use cases that can be easily replicated and
scaled.
EP: Private networks are currently
experiencing a great momentum. What are
the main models for deploying a private
network and for which application scenarios
is each best suited?

LoRaWANs are
clearly the
right
technology at
the right time
to unlock
many vertical
applications
with
innovative
business
models

SD: LoRaWANs are clearly the right technology
at the right time to unlock many vertical
applications with innovative business models
for private network deployments. Kerlink is
recognised by market analysts as the marketleading, one-stop-shop provider of LoRaWAN
end-to-end IoT networks, worldwide. The
company built strong experience in robust
network design-and-operation integration,
through a proven track record of large
deployments. Our partners include tier-one,
world-leading operators of public networks,
and service providers, integrators and
enterprises for private deployments.
Kerlink also developed a complete portfolio of
IoT network turnkey and packaged solutions,
proposed through fully flexible financial models,
mixing opex, capex and hybrid modes. Here
again, the model can fit customer requirements
depending on its financial targets, operational
budgets and organisational structure. We
industrialise most of our network-solution
building blocks to ensure that our customers
benefit from ongoing capabilities enrichment,
while granting the flexibility they require to
implement and integrate these components in
their unique operational environments. LPWAN
cost-efficient solutions, compared to some
alternatives, offer more flexibility for companies
and cities, for example, to decide to invest in a
private IoT network, and enjoy faster returns on
investment.
EP: What are the top challenges that IoT endusers are facing when deploying private
networks?
SD: Deploying a private IoT network will
immerse users in the key features of network
design, deployment, operations and security
management. The good news is that we
already anticipated these challenges and can
quickly empower and help our customers to
successfully complete these steps.
During the build phase, we deliver network
design – to select gateway locations and
finetune configuration, using operator-grade
network planning solutions, like the Siradel
S_IoT suite. We can provide guidance for
gateway installation, provisioning and
backhauling, including remote management.
The overall network architecture design,
including network server and managementtools location, is also part of the project
management proposed.
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During the run phase, the challenge will be to
constantly monitor and optimise service
performance to ensure QoS and continuous
network integrity and sustainability, and to plan
evolutive maintenance. At the same time,
private network users must select the bestdesigned end-devices to ensure end-to-end
performance. All of these steps will be
smoothly orchestrated in our solutions and with
our close support, through web interfaces or
standardised application programme interfaces
(APIs). Private network owners also will be
responsible for security management. Kerlink
has designed comprehensive and secure keyand-certificate routines, secure-boot and
secure storage capabilities on the gateways,
factory-burned architecture and highly secured
maintenance procedures to ease the process,
especially for non-telecom professionals. And
when end-device remote management is
required, an additional set of user-friendly
features will enrich the management suite, with
no impact on existing integration and
operational processes.
EP: What kind of solutions does Kerlink offer
for private network deployments and how do
they help overcome these challenges?
SD: Kerlink brought to market the first
commercial LoRaWAN gateway worldwide in
2014. The company has since built its
legitimacy and a strong expertise in network
design, management and integration to expand
its portfolio beyond gateways. Since last year,
our solutions portfolio covers the entire IoT
LoRaWAN connectivity value chain, from enddevice reference design to secure data
management and distribution, thanks to our
preferred partnership with Microshare.
Kerlink’s connectivity value proposition relies
on two pillars. The first one groups connectivity
solutions for the infrastructure – the Wirnet
indoor and outdoor gateways range –
associated with the core server and
management suite, available either for standalone small private networks – the Wanesy
Small Private Network – or for larger public or
private networks, the carrier-grade Wanesy
Management Center. The second pillar covers
value-added services like Low Power IoT
Reference Design, network-based Wanesy
Geolocation and Wanesy Device Management
application to remotely configure end-devices.
Kerlink combines these building blocks in
turnkey solutions and delivers them in the most
appropriate format to the customer – SaaS,
cloud or on premises configurations, while
providing a full range of supporting
professional services to simplify network
deployment, optimise customer onboarding
and empower customers to operate their own
networks as a Network-as-a-Service solution.
EP: How do you see the LPWAN market
evolving over the next few years? Do you
think private networks will continue
experiencing their current momentum, or will
most customers go with public networks once
networks are deployed on a more global
scale?
▼
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SD: I see a strong growth opportunity for
unlicensed LPWAN solutions since they bring a
dynamic, new option to cellular-based
connectivity. This is the first time that IoT
market requirements and customer
expectations connect, so that customers can
operate their devices on a large scale and
benefit from a comprehensive end-to-end
alternative that can not only deliver optimised
and efficient technical solutions, but also adapt
to challenging business models and cost
structures to make them cost-efficient and
sustainable.
This is a highly complementary alternative to
licensed solutions that will progressively find
their markets and reveal their benefits in

Sept e m b e r

multiple applications. Digitisation is bringing
deep, radical, disruptive – and difficult to
anticipate – changes. Cloud connectivity,
robotics, AI, machine learning and blockchain
are key trends that will combine to challenge
the way we are currently interacting, working,
moving, contracting and doing business. And
all those fields require reliable and increasingly
high-performance public and private networks
to ensure a continuous, secure and appropriate
flow of data from sensors to fuel intelligent
application platforms and bring their
instructions back to actuators or local servers.
Networks are not a commodity, they still are
the spine of the entire IoT architecture, and this
is exactly where Kerlink’s expertise excels.

CASE STUDY: Fast and easy deployment of
smart city building management
Kerlink and the innovative company Tech4Race, specialised in moni-

The challenge
to offer the maximum quality of service in
From rural towns to bustling metropolises,
smart city solutions for critical needs
in terms
toring sporting events,
deployed a LoRaWANTM network
during an enbuilding management systems are being
of energy efficiency,” said Benoit Vagneur, the
installed around the world.durance
But beyondriding
the event
co-founder
andDhabi
president
of Sensing
in the Abu
desert:
the Vision.
Al Ain Endurance
cost efficiencies, increased personal comfort,
energy savings or even light-and-heating
The benefits
Cup. This project proves
the flexibility and contribution of the LoRa®
management, municipalities require reliable
This complete smart city solution delivers an
tools to continuously monitor
key metrics. for deployments
answer to all of
building
technology
inthe
allcity’s
types
of outdoor environments.
Anticipating this market, the French start-up
management needs. From temperature
Sensing Vision designed an
innovative
monitoring,
to presence
detection,isgateways
This
small smart
private and
customised
network
a ground geolocabuilding management platform based on
offer long-range network coverage to support
Kerlink Wirnet LoRaWAN gateways.
useKerlink
cases, while
hosting
applications
tion system which multiple
includes
Wirnet
stations
to access a IoT
enable easy monitoring of the entire system. In
LoRa® network, LoRa®
developed
byownTech4Race and
The solution
addition,sensors
the city is able
to operate its
In early 2018, Sensing Vision deployed its
small private networks, dramatically
ascosts
well
as a Web
interface which enEnergyView solution in realcarried
operatingby the participants,
decreasing its
compared
to operated
conditions for one of the world’s smallest
networks.
ables events organisers to monitor the runners on the course.
smart cities, Chevaigné, a seven-squarekilometre village of 2,100 people in Brittany,
“EnergyView is a software-as-a-solution
France. The Internet of Things network
system bringing quick installation and
connects seven public buildings outfitted with
personalisation to fit the city’s needs,” says
The Web interface also
enabled
spectators
the race on their
31 sensors: environmental sensors
Olivier
Seznec, the
co-founder to
andfollow
technical
(temperature, humidity, light, people
director of Sensing Vision. “We will enrich it to
smartphone,
including
theincreasing
placingamounts
and the
exact
presence), meter-reading sensors
(gas,
provide
of data
and status of the partielectricity and water) and submetering
additional services for a complete experience
cipants.
sensors. The goal is to meet city officials’
and for monitoring buildings’ metrics. The
targets for monitoring real-time status of
future model of smart cities will cover every
public buildings’ energy and water
part of the city from agent to teachers going
consumption, as well as performance of the
through the associations. Sensing Vision is
city’s solar panels and submetering grid.
ready to guide this transition.”
EnergyView enables the rapid identification of
anomalies in the expected level of service. For
example, it quickly reported the overheating of
a school building by nearly 3°C. By only
The Group
was
improving temperature regulation
in
Chevaigné’s public buildings, energy costs are
plier for the IoT
expected to be cut by 20%.

Over three years,

AI at work
The differentiating features of Sensing Vision’s
solution are supported by embedded artificial
intelligence, which computes data collected
selected
as sensors,
the hardware
and software supfrom in-building
official
meteorological data and metadata from city
Scotland
, a new nation-wide LPWA network.
officials (e.g. public holidays or citydepartment opening hours) to create a thermal
Kerlink
will supply up to 500 Wirnet™ iBTS gateways
dynamic model that is applied to each building
monitored.

Kerlink’s LoRaWAN Wirnet Stations allowed a
quick and easy one-day deployment, creating
to the manager of the Boston Networks project, and also its Wanesy
a reliable and secure network in hours, thanks
to their simple and streamlined
architecture. Center
This quickly
provides
an in-depth
Management
solution
(remote
real-time management of
The network then made supervision easier,
understanding of buildings’ thermal
enabling Chevaigné and itsthe
technicians
to
enabling The
non-specialists
gateways
and performance,
the whole while
network).
project to
will also incoroperate and monitor the infrastructure
quickly correct deviations from expected
autonomously.
performance
and ensure comfortable
porate the Kerlink Wanesy
Geolocation
tracking technology, which
conditions for building occupants.
“The reliability of Kerlink’s enables
products allows
us equipment to be accurately located without GPS.
remote
www.kerlink.com
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In 2018, the Group announced several key distribution agreements in Eurasia, Europe and
South America :

This French company helps integrators, resellers and installers validate and deploy IoT and industrialconnectivity projects, and will include Kerlink’s LoRa® technology and products in its suite of network
solutions. With this distribution agreement, the two companies will focus on smart energy, smart city and
smart industry vertical markets in France, Spain and Italy.

With more than 25 years of experience in the Brazilian electronics distribution and technologyapplication market, TCT Brasil is the country’s leading authorized distributor of electronic components, heat
sinks and electronic solutions. This agreement with TCT Brasil builds on Kerlink’s earlier collaboration on a
2017 project, in which it provided 28 Kerlink WirnetTM outdoor stations for Brazil’s first implementation of
LoRa® technology, to manage electric energy meters in the city of Maceió. This partnership also positions
Kerlink to play a big role in designing, equipping and deploying LoRaWAN networks in Brazil’s large and
promising market.

This partnership allows Kerlink to expand its presence in Turkey in collaboration with a nationwide
IoT network-solutions distributor. NetOP Technology designs and manufactures more than 60 types of lowpower, wide-area network (LPWAN) sensors, and provides end-to-end IoT solutions for vertical markets with
its hardware and software. Its sensors support an extensive range of applications in industrial control, logistics,
smart buildings, smart cities, smart agriculture, smart health care and other widely used IoT applications.

Kerlink and Croatia-based AdriNet have joined forces to speed adoption of LoRaTM low-power, widearea networks across the Adriatic region with Kerlink’s products and services. The scope of the agreement
covers smart city, smart energy, smart agriculture and smart industry applications in Albania, Bosnia and
Herzegovina, Croatia, Kosovo, Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia and Slovenia. AdriNet specializes in
distributing advanced communications solutions in the region, including design, installation and management
of complete, reliable and secure network solutions.
KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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O cto b e r

Opening of a Japanese subsidiary to support the deployment of LoRa® networks in this country, accelerate
the Group’s growth in Japan and support its global ambitions in Asia. Tsuneo Tatara, who joined the Group in
the fall of 2017 as National Director to lead the company’s expansion in Japan, has been promoted to Managing Director of the subsidiary,

Kerlink Japan KK.

Création du site internet www.kerlink.jp
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Building on their recent success in deploying an IoT
network for a major Australian mining company that
requires rigorous water conservation management,
Kerlink and M2M Connectivity announce that they have signed a distribution agreement in Australia and
New Zealand. A small private network was deployed when a new large zinc mine began operating in the
Central Queensland area, where the weather conditions are extreme: high temperatures, droughts and
floods.
Prudent water management is therefore essential to maintain operations during the dry season in Australia.
Thus, in order to enable the operator to react more effectively to climatic events and potential water shortages, a first water meter data collection system was deployed, with manual readings taken twice a day, sometimes far from the mining operations management centre.
Beyond
tomers

the
the

smart

mining

products

and

project,
design

M2M
expertise

Connectivity
of

Kerlink

offers

its

prospects

solutions

to

offer

and

solutions

cusdedi-

cated to smart agriculture, smart cities and IoT industrial applications in these two countries

Kerlink and Oizom, a supplier of environmental monitoring systems, announced the
equipment of the

Polludrone solution,

Oizom’s complete system, with WirnetTM Stations from Kerlink.
This solution has been deployed in a smart city project in Kakinada, India. It is used to monitor air and noise
pollution and other environmental risks. Environmental quality control and monitoring of harmful noise in urban areas are typical cases of Smart City applications that have been made possible by the communication
capacity of IoT networks. The European Commission has recognised air pollution and noise levels as sources
of «serious health problems» for EU citizens. The World Health Organization (WHO) recently reported that almost all cities with populations of more than 100,000 in low- and middle-income countries, as well as nearly
half of cities of similar size in high-income countries, do not comply with WHO air quality guidelines.
Polludrone is a state-of-the-art real-time pollution monitoring solution that uses a private LoRaWANTM network
to monitor particle concentration, industrial emissions, toxic gases and odours in the air, as well as traffic,
weather conditions or even noise.
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D ec e m b e r
Kerlink and Electronica Elemon, the leading distributor of electronic components in Argentina, announce that they have signed an agreement to
distribute Kerlink’s IoT solutions. Electronica Elemon targets the country’s
largest cities, where the company focuses on manufacturers, large companies and municipalities that deploy

intelligent urban solutions.

In addition to applications for smart cities, the company specializes in
multiple intelligent vertical sectors, such as parking, street lighting, precision agriculture, connected buildings, energy meters and even waste
management.
Electronica Elemon has deployed more than 250 Kerlink stations, mainly
the Wirnet™ iBTS Compact, a highly scalable LoRaWAN™ station, in Argentina as well as in the main cities of Latin America. The area covered
by its IoT activity in Argentina already represents more than 70% of the
country’s GDP.

The Swiss startup has provided LoRa-based low-power, wide-area (LPWA)
network-server solutions to customers in more than 130 countries in
partnership with leading national and international IoT companies. With
this agreement, LORIOT will provide Kerlink’s WanesyTM Geolocation
technology, which allows precise location of end-devices without GPS, as
a remotely installed value-added services add-on to LORIOT’s customers
in those countries..
Asset tracking and security in ports, airports and industrial sites, livestock
tracking and security, construction site monitoring and pallet identification are among the common uses of the Kerlink geolocation solution.
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L’INTERNET DES OBJETS

THE CONTEXT OF
THE INTERNET OF THINGS

«

The Internet of Things is a global infrastructure for the information society, enabling advanced services by interconnecting (physical or virtual) things based on existing and evolving, interoperable
information
and
communication
technologies

»

ITU - International Telecommunication Union

Over

time,

jects.

This

the

term

ecosystem

evolved
brings

and

now

together

includes

the

manufacturers

whole
of

ecosystem

sensors,

software

of

connected
publishers,

ob-

histor-

ic operators or new ones on the market, integrators, etc. This eclecticism accounts for its richness.
More empirically, the IoT is a network for data exchange and processing between physical objects
electronically identified operating various communication technologies. Certain of these objects
not originally designed to be communicating, are equipped with sensors, electronic chips, software
and Internet connectivity. The combination of these various tools enable objects to be remotely controlled thanks to the exchange of data on their performances and on their surrounding environment.
Objects for personal use (the connected house, objects being worn, leisure equipment, etc.) called consumer-IoT may be distinguished from those for professional use (connected meters, asset tracking, connected
lamps, communicating car parks, etc.), called industrial

IoT or smart city-IoT. The consumer emphasises

the playful, comfort, or design element of the object, replaced every 12 to 36 months. Conversely, industrial
objects are sometimes replaced every 10 or 20 years and frequently require a remote management system.
Other segmentations may be relevant, such as territory: a project for a smart city covers several districts, a town, or a territory; an international company's connected project is on a global scale, and that
of an SME generally involves more local cover. Each use has its own needs and a variety of constraints.

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

30

L’INTERNET DES OBJETS

A digital transformation generating new needs and uses

Projections on the number of connected objects vary significantly from one institute to another:
• 13.9 billion of connected objects by 2020 for Machina Research (2016 study)
• 25.2 billion for GSMA (2018),
• 28 billion for IDC (2014),
• and about 50 billion for IoT Analytics (2017)
Whatever the market study considered, the number of consumer and industrial sensors, whether mobile or
fixed, which will be connected worldwide in 2020 can be calculated in tens of billions, which illustrates the
challenges with which network operators are faced, to convey the data issued and sometimes received by
these new objects.
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In 2025

From 251 to 752 billion
connected objects
(excluding tablets & smartphones)

1
2

GSMA 2018
Statista 2019
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Some major basic trends:
o

Economic:

- Energy, water & food: according to the United Nations, the world's population will increase by 20% each
year to reach 8.5 billion inhabitants in 20253. More than 3 billion people will not have access to drinking water4.
- The productivity of the economic sectors: gain in efficiency, time, etc., improved productivity in many business sectors
o

Sociological:

- Ageing population: increasing needs for "Smart Health" and Telemedicine
- Enlarged towns and cities (size and population): increasing challenges with regard to managing waste, energy, transport / mobility, security, etc.
o

Environmental:

- Global warming
- Pollution & and carbon footprint
- Floods, fires
Other major issues: object security and reinforced data protection.
Faced with concentration of the population, cities and territories must respond to the growing needs for water or energy resources, or services such as transport, cleanliness or housing. Cities and territories in the broad
sense have understood it. They are transforming themselves to become more attractive, more sustainable, to
meet both the new expectations of their inhabitants and the more restrictive regulatory frameworks (better
environmental protection, systems for combating the effects of climate change and natural hazards).
The cities and territories' vital services will have to improve their supervisory tools. Communities will probably
have to optimise and connect their infrastructures to respond to future urban challenges and offer new services on a local or regional scale.
At the same time, citizens' way of life is changing. They consume, they move around, they work in a different
way. It has become increasingly difficult for the methods and solutions of the past to solve today's urban
problems. The current digital revolution offers opportunities to reinvent products, services and companies
themselves. Broad fields such as the car, energy, water, transport, logistics, health, safety, agriculture and
consumer electronic¤s are affected. We are at the start of a fundamental transformation of society and

economics.

3 “The world in 2025: Demographic issues”, 2008
4 “Vital Water Graphics”, 2008.
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Need for IoT network coverage and infrastructures
The market for communicating objects may be divided into two categories:
•

LAN

Those
for

with

short

range

connections,

Local Area Network,

i.e.

on

the

basis

of

networks

called

do not require remote operation, or special tools to be in-

stalled. They are based on technologies of the

Wifi, NFC, Bluetooth Low Energy,

etc.

type which the end user (consumers, company, community, etc.) manages and operates directly;
•

Those

with

long

range

connections,

i.e.

on

the

basis

of

networks

called

WAN for Wide Area Network. For the latter, networks to collect and send data have to be set up. They
may be connected by radio (LPWAN for Low Power Wide Area Network, a LoRa Alliance™ domain
or the Sigfox technology, a French specialist in UNB for Ultra Narrow Band) or cellular (GSM, LTE-MTC, 3G, 4G).

The long-range low-speed networks, LPWAN, use free radio waves (mainly 800-900 MHz) with, as the basic
principle:

The faster one communicates,
The less one consumes.
The use of non-licensed bands makes it possible to bring down a substantial barrier to entering

the

telecommunications

operators'

domain,

making

it

easier

for

new

co-called

alter-

native operators to get in. Nowadays, the LPWAN players are pressing forward to deploy a
global infrastructure as wide as the cellular one, or at least initially on a factory, city/town,
territory or country scale; or to put in place standards which enable existing technologies to be interoperable.
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Source : KERLINK Group

* Ultra Narrow Band
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**Ability of a communicating object to switch from its nominal network to another network managed by a third party operator

*Impossibility to transmit and receive data simultaneously

LPWAN networks remove barriers

INTERNET OF THINGS
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Focus LPWAN - LoRaWANTM
The founder members of the LoRa AllianceTM were quickly joined by some of the largest multinational industries such as Bosch,

Schneider Electric or again EDF and, more recently, by the web giants: Google,
Tencent and Alibaba.

The LoRa AllianceTM is an open non-profit organisation which attracted more

than 500 members since its

creation in March 2015, thus becoming the largest and most dynamic alliance in the technological sector.
Its members work closely together and share their experience in order to promote and ensure the

success

of the LoRaWANTM protocol as the primary open world standard for IoT LPWAN secure connectivity and
operator quality. With the necessary technical flexibility to process a wide range of IoT applications, both static and mobile, and a certification programme guaranteeing interoperability, LoRaWANTM has already been
deployed by major mobile network operators all over the world.
LoRa® is a technology deployed in the USA, South Africa and Europe and also in Russia, India, South Korea and China. It is also the solution selected by the French operators Orange and Bouygues Télécom to
propose new M2M and IoT connectivity offers. During 2016, the LoRa Alliance™ enabled institutions and
universities to support the ecosystem, to participate in promoting the technology. The arrival of new key
members in the ecosystem since 2017 enables the Alliance to increase its power and its global coverage.
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LoRa® technology
The LoRa® technology is one of the low-speed wireless solutions commonly used in the industrial Internet of
Things. It is distinguished by its extra-long range reception and transmission (approximately 15 km), whose
spectrum authorises several million devices to be covered without the slightest difficulty. This advantage is
combined with excellent penetration in buildings (even in cellars and basements), with a 5 to 10 dB link more
favourable than cellular networks, and accurate geo-tracking without using GPS.

Performance

Economic Benefits

Consumption: the most energy efficient radio transmis-

Low-cost radio sensor function: integration of the radio

sion

module into the most economic sensor

Two-way capacity: ability to transmit both from and to

Low-cost radio transmission: cost of sending data over

the sensor

the most economic radio link

Scalability: the network's ability to scale up (increase

Densification: ability to increase network coverage(geo-

the number of sensors per geographic area)

graphic and indoor penetration)

Throughput: data throughput over the radio link

Low-cost infrastructure: the most economic cost of de-

Security: implementation of the conditions for protec-

ployment (base station/antennas)

tion against intrusion and to guarantee data confiden-

Private networks deployment: ability to propose a closed

tiality

silo solution (without an operator offer based on sensors)

The company has chosen to support the LoRa Alliance™, as a founder member, believing the technology
to be the most complete, genuinely two-way, substantially resistant to interference, with effective build-up,
after processing, to geo-track fixed or mobile objects and without having to use a GPS module. However, the
company's products and services are developed on a model making them compatible with other IoT/M2M
technologies to respond to many different uses.
If the LPWAN segment has still many challenges to be faced, such as continuing to deploy networks, or to
standardise solutions, the adoption of these new technologies is under way.
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«

Kerlink is recognized as one of the top global providers of LoRaWANTM

network infrastructure & solutions, with a history of delivering top quality IoT
network hardware and software for mobile network operators in Europe, South Asia, South America and the U.S. Its success at working with established telecom companies such as Tata, Spark and Senet, which considered a variety
of narrowband Internet of Things protocols, demonstrates Kerlink’s superior
stations and its flexible software solutions for LoRa technology.

»

Adarsh Krishnan - Analyst at ABI Research
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dedicated to the Internet of Things.

monetize their connectivity offers

customers to deploy, operate and

– to enable our public and private

software and professional services

lity network solutions – infrastructures,

provision and operation of high qua-

Be the international reference for the

objects.

fully exploit their fleets of connected

design, shortly bring to market and

cation developer partners to quickly

customers and our business appli-

lue-added solutions that enable our

Be the preferred provider of va-

MISSIONS OF THE GROUP
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INTERNET OF THINGS

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

41

INTERNET OF THINGS

The primary aspiration of the Group is to offer end-to-end network solutions (hardware, software and services)
to its customers, the historic and alternative telecommunications operators.

FOCUS on one of our strategic issues

Accelerate growth with private network operators

Actual interest in developing a private network:

Data security (confidentiality)
Data ownership (control and hosting)
Coverage quality:
Dedicated infrastructure directly operated (QoS) with flexible optimisation of the capacity and indoor and
outdoor coverage, according to the needs of particular uses.

Strategic independence:
Control both financial (Capex or Opex) and operational (network directly operated)
Solution based on open standards and an ecosystem of players

Economy of scale:
A single network enabling several contexts to be addressed or solutions shared, with different business models.

"Kerlink is leader on the global LoRa

®

infrastructure market due to its

end-to-end platform which includes the reference design, peripheral
management, network operations, vertical solutions and professional

"

services which accelerate the adoption of the IoT worldwide.

Mareca Hatler – Research Director at OnWorld
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PRINCIPAL LPWAN APPLICATIONS

•
Precision agriculture
Meteorological and environmental
monitoring
Monitoring of livestock and agricultural
vehicles

Low data volume, tolerance in the
event of high latency, high battery
life, low costs

•
•
•

Energy management
Building operation and maintenance
Building security

•

Substantial indoor penetration, low
data volume, possibility of downlink
communication, high battery life,
low costs

•

Monitoring of site assets (static and
mobile)
Monitoring of shipments and freight
Monitoring / shipment
Monitoring / storage

•

Indoor penetration, low data volume, possibility of downlink communication, high battery life, low
costs, mobility

•

Low data volume, tolerance in the
event of high latency, high battery
life, low costs

•

Substantial indoor penetration, low
data volume, high battery life, low
costs, frequent data transmission

•
•
Smart Agriculture

•

Smart Building &
Smart Infrastructure

Smart Logistics &
Asset Tracking

•
•
•

•
•
Smart Cities

•
•

Waste management
Monitoring of fire hydrants and manhole covers
Car park management
Management of public lighting

Utilities

•
•
•
•

Heat / water / gas monitoring
Energy measurement
Smart Grid
Pipeline monitoring

Source: IoT Analytics - LPWAN Market report 2018-2023
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USE CASES

Worldsensing succeeds in Grand Paris Metro
Project with a Kerlink LoRaWANTM solution
February 2018 | Version 1.1

Worldsensing, a Barcelona-based Internet of Things
(IoT) and operational intelligence technology
provider, needed to create an edge-based,
connected computing infrastructure to support
tunnel construction for the Grand Paris Metro
construction project. Worldsensing’s technology
required low-power connectivity on nodes placed
20 meters underground in subterranean Parisian
tunnels. So Worldsensing turned to Kerlink for

Company name: Worldsensing
Headquarters: Barcelona, Spain
Year founded: 2008
Employees: 80
Industry sector: Technology, services and
engineering support

LoRaWANTM gateways and support services. With
Kerlink’s help, Worldsensing created a low-touch,
high quality solution that would last at least 8 years,
well beyond the Grand Paris Metro completion
date in 2022.

Worldsensing pioneers with its
IoT solutions
The Grand Paris Metro project is one of the largest,
urban, public transportation projects of the 21st
century. According to the Société du Grand
Paris, the project will culminate in a new metro
for the capital of France, providing connections
to developing neighborhoods, 3 major Parisian
airports, business districts and research centers. The
Grand Paris Express will serve 165,000 companies
and transport 2 million commuters daily, creating
vast new opportunities for economic development.
1
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Worldsensing provides smart cities and industrial
customers

with

tools

to

understand

the

performance of distributed infrastructure, improve

Kerlink provides the answer
with a LPWAN IoT solution

efficiency and make predictions. By using industrial

So Worldsensing turned to Kerlink to provide

IoT communications technology, Worldsensing

a solution with a set of gateways and support

needed to create nodes
for the Paris Metro project
that could gather data
from

sensors

installed

deep in metro tunnels.
These

“Our solution for the Grand Paris
Metro project needed end-toend quality and monitoring.”

services. The combination
of Kerlink WirnetTM Stations
and
network
design
support was the right set
of hardware and services

critical
sensors
to power Worldsensing’s
would measure tunnel
four hundred Loadsensing
Mr. Juan Perez
Loadsensing Product Manager,
structural data including
nodes. “Our solution for the
Worldsensing
changes in incline and
Grand Paris Metro project
positioning, load, structural
needed end-to-end quality
strain
and
structural
and monitoring, from sensor
deformation. The safety of construction workers to node to gateway. Kerlink’s LoRaWANTM WirnetTM
and the citizens of Paris can be enhanced through Stations filled an important gap for us,” stated Mr.
carefully aggregated and analyzed real-time Juan Perez, Worldsensing’s Loadsensing Product
data from these sensors. Worldsensing needed a Manager. The technology solution from Kerlink
communications infrastructure and services partner would support longevity and safety requirements
that could supply a high quality, reliable, wireless
of the nodes, provide deep indoor coverage
solution that would also minimize node power
and offer bi-directional node communication for
consumption, as the node batteries needed to last remote maintenance, diagnostics and software
through the year 2022.
and firmware updates.
“Kerlink’s design and attention to detail made
interactions with Kerlink exceptional,” described Mr.
Perez. Worldsensing believes that IoT solutions will
continue to drive its business growth. In the future,
Worldsensing is looking at additional LoRaWANTMpowered solutions for other applications including
above-ground bridge repair, construction site
monitoring, mine monitoring, smart parking and
asset management. Worldsensing knows that
having accurate, real-time smart city construction
and monitoring data helps services companies
meet timelines, lower costs and maximize personal
safety of workers and citizens.
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INTERNET OF THINGS

Operations Monitoring Solution
in Accor Invest hotels
De c e mber, 2018 | Ver si on 1 .0

“The SMATI solution designed for water & energy monitoring tools provided us a first answer to the evolution of
business needs. The teams are already considering the algorithms that could be deployed in the future to give even
more efficiency to the solution in the interest of our customer and in the way of reducing our carbon footprint. ”
Arnaud Patat, Senior Vice President Digital, Construction & Innovation AccorInvest

Company name : HXperience
Headquarters : Paris, FRANCE
Year founded : 2014
Industry sector : Software Publishor

Company name : Groupe AccorInvest
Headquarters : Luxembourg, LUXEMBOURG
Year founded : 2017
Industry sector : Hotel Property Owner & Operator

Challenge
Born from the sale by AccorHotels of its property portfolio,
AccorInvest is now an European leader in hotel real
estate. It acts as an investor, owner and hotel operator
with a portfolio of 885 hotels in 26 countries.

The LoRaWANTM network is powered by Kerlink’s
product, WirnetTM iFemtoCell

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

The project between AccorInvest, HXperience and
Kerlink was born from the group’s general goal on
reducing the carbon footprint and the “Low-carbon”
plan initiatives launched in its real estate assets in 2016.
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INTERNET OF THINGS

Operations Monitoring Solution
in Accor Invest hotels
De c e meber, 2018 | V er si on 1 .0

Understand & act to reduce the carbon
footprint of hotels and optimize their
operations

The arrival of Artificial Intelligence will also allow the
hotel manager to anticipate any technical problems
that may arise within the hotel or predict usage pattern
depending on customer profile.

For AccorInvest, the first issue was about sustainable
and economic development. AccorInvest has identified
that water & energy consumptions represented more
than half of the average 17kg of CO2 produced per
available room each day.
To reduce its consumption, AccorInvest has first to be
able to continually and precisely measure the various
operation parameters, what is made technically and
economically possible by connected devices. The
digitalization of hotels should therefore make possible
to set up a global performance management and
decision-making support solution.

Guarantee comfort, quality of service and
anticipate the evolution of customer needs
in hotels
The quality of service for hotel guests, whether it comes
to comfort or sanitary, is a major challenge for the hotel
operator.
The cross-referencing of the parameters measured in
the hotel in real time with operating data should make it
possible to quickly identify corrective actions and value
creation levers aimed at constantly improving the level
of service provided to the customer.

2
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Transform and enhance the value of
operation and maintenance jobs in the
hotels industry
Finally, the implementation of these new innovative
technological solutions contributes to the transformation
of the operations and maintenance activities within
hotels, by constantly enhancing their strong business
skills. Thus, making building parameters available in
such a simple way allows everyone to focus on activities
with high added value for customers, to remove some
repetitive time-consuming low-contribution actions and
to facilitate decision-making.
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Solution
As early as 2016, AccorInvest began to focus on
connected objects applied to monitoring water and
energy consumption. After a pilot project, with Artelia
and HXperience on around 20 hotels involving around
600 sensors, AccorInvest’s operational maintenance
teams launched the deployment enabling each
hotel to monitor the water and energy consumption
correlated with each use (accommodation, kitchen,
spa, etc…) using business indicators, but also to monitor
all critical maintenance processes.

Example of SMATI dashboard

The solution deployed is based on several connected
devices installed in hotels that collect data on
water, gas and electricity consumption, but also
monitor the temperature of domestic hot water and
refrigeration units as well as air quality within the hotel
and immediately alert the operator in the event of a
problem.

Benefits

The solution is based on LoRaWAN™ technology,
which offer wireless communication without SIM card
and allows a long-range link between the sensor and
the gateway.

Better responsiveness of maintenance
teams and customer satisfaction

Placed inside the hotel, Kerlink’s gateway – named
Wirnet™ iFemtoCell – makes possible to deploy
a LoRaWAN™ network that covers all the sensors
deployed in the building.
The solution provides unprecedented openness
and scalability, while providing security and network
robustness.

The result of this first step of digitizing hotels is now being
measured not only on consumption and therefore the
carbon footprint of the AccorInvest group, but also on
a better quality of service and comfort available to the
customer with a promising impact on the operations
and maintenance teams.

Beyond controlling consumption, the solution
implemented allows maintenance teams to have a
real tool for monitoring the hotel’s critical equipment
and thus to be able to immediately detect malfunctions
that avoid major inconveniences for hotel guests (hot
water malfunction, air quality problem, water leak
detection, etc.) as well as revenue losses associated
with customer dissatisfaction.

Reduction of consumption, improvement
of operational processes and support for
investment decisions

All the data sent by the various connected objects
is then collected within the SMATI software solution
provided by HXperience, which allows the data
from each hotel to be collected, procecessed and
analyzed in real time.

The detailed analysis of consumption data by ype
of usage makes it possible to identify the causes of
over-consumption or operational malfunctions and
to correct them. It also helps to guide teams towards
appropriate renovation decisions in hotels.

Architecture of the deployed solution

Positive return on investment

Cross-referencing this information with the hotel’s
activity data (number of nights, number of meals, etc.)
makes it possible to provide relevant business indicators
for hotel managers and maintenance teams in the
form of synthetic dashboards.

This project and the associated operational actions
have a Return on Investment (ROI) rate of more than
40% thanks in particular to the identification of problems
that were previously difficult to detect, such as water
leaks that could save a hotel up to €30,000 per year,
operating problems with Air Handling Units, or process
problems within a hotel.

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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The solution proposed by Artelia, Hxperience
and Kerlink now provides an initial response to
AccorInvest’s business needs, whether in terms of
reducing carbon footprints, making critical teams
available or guaranteeing comfort for hotel guests.
“AccorInvest obtained a result that met a very
high level of business requirements. It is a chain of
solutions that works and where each AccorInvest
employee will find reliable data on a daily basis”
Arnaud Patat, Senior Vice President Digital,
Construction & Innovation AccorInvest.

transformation. The data analysis tool must make
it possible to guide investors and hotel operators
in their decision-making and enable them to
adapt their know-how to the changing needs
of customers from the design phase of buildings.
The AccorInvest teams are working with Artelia
to consider new use cases that they would
like to add to the SMATI solution as well as all
the predictive services they could have at
their disposal thanks to the use of the Artificial
Intelligence features available within SMATI.

Next Steps
AccorInvest’s
ambition
is
to
continue
the
deployment
and
evolution
of
the
solution
in
its
hotel
network.
In addition, AccorInvest is using this solution as
the first concrete action in the group’s digital

Read more:
AccorInvest : http://www.accorinvest.com
HXperience: https://hxperience.com/
More success stories: https://www.kerlink.com/customers-usecases/use-cases/
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PROFILE & GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
William GOUESBET

Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board

Yannick DELIBIE

Deputy General Manager
Director

Christian QUEFFELEC
Director

The Board of Directors validates the
company’s strategy and general policy,
designates the corporate officers,
approves investments, controls the
management and ensures the quality of
the information supplied to shareholders.
the Board of Directors met seven times
during the financial year 2018.

Robert FRATI
Director

Stéphane SIMONCINI
Représentative of
CM-CIC Innovation
Director

Departure of the Board of Directors
on 21 September 2018*

*See Report of the Board of Directors on corporate governance p82
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GENERAL
MANAGEMENT

William GOUESBET - Co-founder

Chief Executive Officer Kerlink SA
Director Kerlink Singapore LTD. PTE
Director Kerlink Inc.
Director Kerlink IoT solutions India Private Ltd.
Director Kerlink Japan KK

Robert CLAPHAM

Deputy Chief Executive Officer Kerlink SA
Director Kerlink Singapore LTD. PTE
Director Kerlink IoT solutions India Private Ltd.
Treasurer and Secretary Kerlink Inc.
Director Kerlink Japan KK
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Yannick DELIBIE - Co-founder
Deputy General Manager Kerlink SA
Director Technologies & Innovation
President and CEO Kerlink Inc.
Director Kerlink Singapore LTD. PTE
Director Kerlink Japan KK
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GROUP STRATEGY
BOARD
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PROFILE & GOVERNANCE

MISSION:

REFLECT ON
TOMORROW

Kerlink's Group Strategy Board
has for mission to stimulate
thought of the Board of Directors
on the strategy, positioning
and business of the Group,
for the purpose of ensure the
sustainability and development
thereof in three to ve years
from now, in a uctuating
market and environment.
It consolidates the view of
the market, reects on future
technological
innovations,
initiates and conducts any
external growth projects and
investments that can inuence
the activity.
Its actions are at the core of
the Group's DNA: it ensures
the creation of value, provides
meaning and consolidates
promoting talent.
The
strategic
orientations
are discussed by committed
stakeholders,
concerned
with maintaining signicant

and sustainable
advantages.

The Group's ambition is to
develop a strategic model that
is already robust, based on ve
major paths:
- ensure
protable
and
sustainable growth, combining
sales of recurring services
with sales of infrastructure
equipment,
- strengthen the development
dynamics internationally in
zones with high IoT investment,
- capitalise on employees that
have a highly developed
sense of customer focus,
- internally share and preserve
the strong company values,
communicate them externally,

KERLINK - ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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The constant innovation and
improvement in the existing
solutions are an integral part
of the Group's growth strategy.
The dynamics of the progression
of the activity and the Group's
results demonstrate the solidity
and the pertinence of this
model.
The Group Strategy Board
occasionally brings in experts
in order to examine the
opportunity for the strategic
choices under consideration.

MARKET

VISION

TALENTS

CREATION

The Group in fact never stops
expanding its range of products
and services, so as to always
better meet the requirements for
differentiation of its customers.

- widen the gap concerning
innovation by always staying a
step ahead of the competition.

VALUES
DEVELOPMENT

competitive

TECHNOLOGIES

SUSTAINABILITY

22
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MEMBERS

1

2

3

4

1

5

William GOUESBET - Co-founder
Chief Executive Officer

4

Stéphane DEJEAN

Chief Marketing Officer
2

Yannick DELIBIE - Co-founder

Deputy General Manager
Chief Technology & Innovation Officer
3

Robert CLAPHAM

5

Nathalie LIOUVILLE

Chief Human Resources Officer

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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GROUP
OPERATIONAL
BOARD
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MISSION:

MANAGEMENT ON
A DAILY BASIS
Kerlink’s Group Operational Board takes the strategy defined by the Group Strategy Board as a starting point
for its work based on a capacity for creation that is efficient, fast and sustainable. It breaks the orientations
decided by the Board of directors into a one-year operational strategy, by determining the contribution and
the rollout in over time of the company’s resources, in France and abroad.
It sets for everyone operational objectives in line with the implementation of this strategy over the financial
period.
The Group Operational Board meets once a month to examine the operational management of the
Business Units and of the subsidiaries (daily operations and action plans), coordinate the conducting of
projects, examine, analyse and manage the financial results of the Group. It periodically informs the General
Management and the Board of Directors of the Group’s economic performance.
Kerlink’s Group Operational Board, chaired by Robert Clapham, Assistant General Manager, is comprised of
the VPs in charge of the Business Units of Kerlink SA, VPs in charge of each of the subsidiaries of the Group and
of the Chief Executive Officer of the Group.

Robert CLAPHAM
Deputy Chief Executive officer

Marie LE BERRE
VP Kerlink Infrastructure Solutions

William GOUESBET
Chief Executive Officer

Carlos BRICENO
VP Kerlink Americas

Didier LARRIEU
VP Kerlink Applications Services

Girish DADHEECH
VP Kerlink India

Arnaud BOULAY
VP Kerlink Asia

Tsuneo TATARA
VP Kerlink Japan
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N E W O R G A N I S A T I O N 			
			 B U S I N E S S 								
Since 1 January 2018, setting up of a new strategic model that revolves around two sectors of activity :

Marie LE BERRE
VP Kerlink Infrastructure Solutions

The «Kerlink Infrastructure Solutions» Business Unit will allow the Group to
consolidate and develop its position as an international reference for the
supply of high-quality infrastructures and network services allowing its public
and private carrier customers to deploy and operate their IoT-dedicated
connectivity offers.
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			 A R O U N D T W O
								 U N I T S

Didier LARRIEU
VP Kerlink Advanced Services

The «Kerlink Advanced Services» Business Unit has for strategic objective
to impose Kerlink at the front ranks of the stakeholders able to propose
value-added solutions that allow its business application developing
customers to rapidly design and fully operate their fleet of connected
objects (management and geolocation services of objects connected
to the networks and Reference Design offers .
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FOCUS ON
Before co-founding Kerlink with William Gouesbet
in 2004, Yannick Delibie was software group
manager at Wavecom’s Rennes site, where he
registered three Wavecom patents in the field of IP
connectivity in GPRS.
In that position, he held technical responsibility for
software development in the fields of telematics
and machine-to-machine (M2M) systems. He also
worked on mobile solutions for car manufacturers,
embedded bluetooth integration and technology
monitoring and internal training on mobile solutions
for telematics and M2M markets.
Prior to that, Yannick served as technical manager
for multimedia protocols at Mitsubishi Electric’s R&D
Center in Rennes. He was responsible for technical
coordination of specifications and design of
streaming and videoconferencing services and
packet session initiation protocol (SIP) on mobile
terminals.
Yannick, who has filed 15 patents, also worked
for eight years at the French Ministry of Defence,
where he was in charge of security around Internet
communications. Additional duties included
developing telecommunication equipment, such
as a data protocol analyzers, and managing
technical studies in digital satellite transmissions.

In addition to his expertise in mobile solutions for
automotive manufacturers, Yannick is an expert in
mobile multimedia protocols. Its expertise in the field
of M2M and IoT connectivity has placed it within the
EU’s standardisation bodies. For example, it actively
participates in standardization bodies (ETSI and AFNOR),
one dealing with service and system aspects, and the

YANNICK DELIBIE, 49
Deputy general manager

« The Internet of Things
is not a response to a
need but an economical
way to define vertical
applications relevant to
the market.»

other with intelligent metering architecture. Yannick
sits on the Board of Directors of the LoRa AllianceTM.
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Kerlink will be 15 years' old
this year, as co-founder, how
would you assess the company's
development?

What tools does Kerlink have
to address the promising IoT
market?

How to you see the Internet of
Things market in future years,
after a difficult 2018 financial
year?

Y.D. The first 10 years saw the organ-

Y.D. The Internet of Things market

Y.D. Kerlink is leader on its market

ic growth of the company, position-

slowed down in 2018 as the invest-

and the expertise acquired in recent

ing products and services meeting

ment agreed by the leading stake-

years enables it to anticipate market

the needs of the M2M market, espe-

holders did not allow a quick return

developments. Investment in R&D

cially in the field of public transport.

on

measured.

provides a significant advantage to

As if often the case in the life of a

There are many reasons for this.

be ready for the Edge Networking

start-up, a technological and market

Deployment projects in volume of IoT

revolutions

pivot became necessary to pass the

applications are complex and require

the company's reputation puts it in

stage of an installed and long-lasting

a very long time to market. Therefore it

the forefront of large-scale deploy-

SME. This was put in place in 2012, by

is not rare to see a project take up to two

ments of smart cities and industrial IoT.

concentrating our R&D and commer-

years before becoming operational.

The market is worldwide, and Ker-

cial efforts on an emerging subject,

Furthermore, the sensors becoming

link's presence on all continents is a

the Internet of Things (IoT) particularly

part of the IoT project have techni-

valuable asset for converting verti-

by developing solutions using non-li-

cal characteristics, in terms of per-

cal offers into commercial successes.

censed radio band technologies.

formance, which require meticulous

The risks taken and the investment

development and high quality. The

decided on enabled our develop-

industrial groups which can devel-

ment to increase rapidly and our

op a quantity of this type of prod-

presence in the telecommunications

uct need substantial visibility to ac-

ecosystem. In three years, Kerlink be-

tivate their investment. The lack of

came the world leader on its market.

maturity of the technologies and

This growth was accompanied by a

the risk that the end customer will

significant operational structuring of

not make a commitment tend to

the company, by opening subsidi-

deter taking a decision to invest.

aries in Asia and in America. At the

However, despite this late start, mar-

same time, a Paris stock market listing

ket requirements have never been

played a part in creating a reputation

so strong. The subjects of the smart

and increasing visibility, enabling us

city, public transport and mobili-

to handle larger and larger projects.

ty, energy management and pro-

The assessment of these 14 years

ductive efficiency for industry and

is very positive, but a company's

agri-food business generate a grow-

history is built daily, step by step,

ing demand for IoT technologies.

investment

to

be

in

progress.

Moreover,

by facing challenges and bounding back in the case of failure.
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BIOGRAPHY

CARLOS BRICENO, 54
Vice-President KERLINK AMERICAS

As VP Sales and Business Development of Kerlink’s Chicago-based subsidiary, Carlos is responsible for developing
the strategy for profitable revenue growth of all products and services throughout the Americas, and strengthening
the Kerlink Inc. organization.
Carlos has more than 20 years of experience in the telecommunications industry, spanning cellular networks, Wi-Fi,
SaaS and the Internet of Things. Prior to joining Kerlink, he established Briceno Consulting, where he worked closely
with European and American companies on global market-development strategies. His clients included InterDigital
Inc., an industry leader in designing and developing advanced technologies for mobile communications; Qowisio,
a French provider of IoT solutions for low-power, wide-area networks, and BCSG, a U.K. company that provides IoT
cloud-based solutions in the Americas and other major markets.
He previously served as Director of Business Development for Green Packet, the leading Asian connectivity-solutions
provider. He led successful partnerships with companies like Cisco, Ericsson and Alcatel-Lucent that expanded
Green Packet’s reach into Europe and the Americas.
He also served as Vice President of Business Development for GTX Corp., which develops smart wearable products,
and he led Novatel Wireless’s expansion into the Latin American market, establishing distribution channels and
generating the company’s first revenues from the region. Earlier in his career, Carlos served as director of technical
sales at GTRAN Wireless which was later acquired by Flex.

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

64

4 SUBSIDIARIES
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THE
TALENTS
Talents are one of the Group's main enrichment devices. They are at the core of the Kerlink DNA and make
every effort to put into practice the agreed strategies. These talents grow and mature as the Group develops.

Focus on two profiles which put their dynamism to the Group's advante
Constance Chaplet and Jérémie Vayer, 33 years, whose unconventional experience reflect the wish to emphasise the right people, at the right time, with one and the same goal:

SUCCEED TOGETHER
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PORTRAIT OF
COMMUNICATORS

Constance Chaplet

Jérémie Vayer

Financial Communications Officer &

Communications Manager

Office Manager

How do you cope with the
Group's development?

Your career in a few words?
C.C: I joined Kerlink in August 2008.

J.V: I joined Kerlink in May 2009 for an

C.C: It is really very enriching and

At that time, above all, a multi-skilled

end-of-study work placement. I was

exciting to experience it from within.

person had to be recruited: receiving

then studying for a Masters 2 in Applied

The closeness of the executives to the

visitors,

switchboard,

Foreign Languages specialising in

teams enabled everyone to take part

administrative tasks for the various

International Trade with the countries

in the various strategic shifts. When

departments, etc. I rapidly came to

of Central and Eastern Europe.

everything is going at 100 an hour, we

share the ambitions of this SME with

My assignment was to assess the

adapt and it's great. It's a great story

considerable potential and I became

potential of the rail market in Central

because we wrote it all together! Very

involved in order to take part in the

European countries for one of our

few companies are lucky enough

adventure.

products at the time, the Wirtrack

to experience growth like Kerlink,

And what an adventure! In 10 years,

Outdoor. This product – still in the

I'm very proud to be a player in this

I have held various positions with the

Kerlink portfolio - at that time opened

success story.

aim of surpassing myself in areas

up new functions for this market: GPS

that were unknown to me. In January

geo-tracking, detection of impacts,

J.V: It seemed clear to me that

2016, William and Robert suggested

temperature recording, etc.

the issues and the practices have

that I provide support for the Kerlink

After this work placement, I was

considerably

stock market listing by becoming the

offered a position as Marketing and

first steps at Kerlink. The audience,

Financial

telephone

Communications

Officer.

changed

since

my

Communications Assistant, a position

the messages and the strategies

Communications? A new challenge

I immediately accepted.

deployed, as the Group develops,

which I had not yet thought about.

For 10 years now, as the Group

are

At the same time, I carried out the

developed,

changed

towards the long term. This evolution

duties of Office Manager with the aim

and I am now the Communications

is galvanising since it provided new

of guaranteeing good administrative

Manager.

The majority of my tasks

territories to be conquered and new

coordination and assuring the General

are oriented towards events, press

messages to be passed on, forcing me

Management of the organisation's

relations,

Group's

to continually step out of my comfort

productivity.

brand image and, supported by a

zone, both from a methodological

Communications Officer, managing

and technical point of view.

my

remit

managing

the

sharper,

and

more

oriented

communications scheduling.
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A

trade

fair

in

America

is

not

managed in the same way one as in
India! (laughter)
I'm happy to have experienced
this build-up of the Group, which
supported me while I was discovering
this profession and today I am proud
to be belong to it.

Preparing the annual and half-yearly
activity report is a communications
exercise for which legal obligations
of

the

communications,

a

real

performance!
J.V: Promoting Kerlink and being as
transparent as possible means a lot

Can you explain to us
how the various aspects of
communications are organised at
Kerlink

to me. As well, supported by a press

C.C: Financial communications, as

nalists. In permanent contact with the

the name suggests, is structured

marketing department, I try to bring

around our activity and our economic

out the best in each contract signed.

and

complying

Publicity events fully derive from this

with the strict regulations of the AMF

communications strategy and are

(French financial market authority).

guided by the need for a presence at

One of the many challenges since

various trade fairs, from the most mod-

2016 is to succeed in making financial

est one to the telecommunications

communications

high point that is the Mobile World

with

financial

corporate

results,

live

side-by-side

communications.

relations agency, we do everything
be relevant and impacting for jour-

Congress.
The “Financial Communication and

understanding, and our collaboration

Corporate Communication” depart-

is really relevant and always with

ments rely on each other to be inno-

good humour!

vative, flexible and ensure compli-

This is a complex but fascinating

ance with the rules applicable to the

profession,

years

Company and the recommendations

now I have been discovering and

set by the Autorité des Marchés Finan-

integrating.

ciers.

for

three
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What are your next challenges?

possible to find the subject which will

But Jérémie and I work with mutual

that

Energy
to spare!

must be reconciled with the meaning

C.C: There are a lot of them! But my
daily challenge is to show, through
the various communications media,
that Kerlink is a genuine start-up while
retaining the requirement level I set
myself.
J.V: In the near future, I would like to
face the challenge of surprising visitors at our trade fairs with a concept
of a truly pioneering stand. Kerlink is
an innovative and inventive company and I would honestly like this to be
reflected in the communication, while
somewhat casting aside the market
codes and customs.
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SOCIAL & ENVIRONMENTAL
RESPONSABILITY
CSR is a concept at the core of social, environmental and
economic concerns of companies.
According to the European Commission, CSR is «the voluntary
integration, by enterprises, of social and environmental
concerns in their business operations and in their relationship
with stakeholders. Being socially responsible means not
only fulfilling legal expectations, but also going beyond
compliance and investing «more» into human capital,
the environment and the relations with stakeholders».
In a context where the principals are increasingly concerned
with CSR, setting up an RSE policy is considered by the Group
as an opportunity for developing employee commitment
while still making it possible to bring employees together
around projects that have meaning and that can attract
new talents.
The Group’s CSR policy, set up at the end of 2017, was formalised by the company’s employees.
The Group has set itself the following areas for improvement :

Control its environmental impact by measuring the energy consumption of its buildings, by
controlling the carbon footprint linked to its travels, by recycling its waste and by controlling
the impact associated with the products and services sold (from the design stage to the end
of life).

Developing social actions and solidarity with future generations (collecting toys, humanitarian
programmes). Developing interactions with the local ecosystem (partnerships with schools,
student visits). Drafting a purchasing charter against child labour.

Enhance the human capital by favouring well-being and happiness in the company
(interdepartmental
micro training sessions, attention given to, the ergonomics of the work stations,
break areas). Share in the wealth produced (profit-sharing based on the performance of the
company).
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GROUP KEY
FIGURES
Gross margin (in K€)

Revenue (in K€)

EBITDA (in K€)

Areas (en M€)

Sales type (in M€)
3.0
2.5

12.8
12.0
3.5

12.6

2.5

9.0

22.3

1.6

1.6

8.0

14.0

5.0

0.4

3.6

Services

10.6

1.4

Equipments
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6.0
4.8

France

International
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KEY FIGURES

Share of turnover invested in R&D (in M€)

6.5

5.0

3.6
2.3

2.4

Headcount*

*including corporate officers
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REVENUE
BY ACTIVITY
The Group's revenue amounted to €17.1 million for financial year 2018, compared with €24.7 million in
2017, representing a decline of 31%.
Despite the renewed interest shown by many world players in the Group's solutions, the company
suffered from the second quarter of 2018 when historic telecommunications operators slowed down
their network deployments. After an initial wave of early adopters such as Orange, Tata, KPN, etc., the
telecommunications industry considered that there were insufficient objects to be connected to these
networks in the future.
This disappointing volume may be mainly explained by four phenomena:
• delays in standardisation particularly in the Roaming part.
• connectivity costs not aligned with market expectations (inability to reach an acceptable ROI in the
envisaged application cases).
• complexity of IoT projects (applications, sensors, deployment) not mastered by the telecommunications
operators.
• a marketing position setting the present LPWA technologies against 3GPP even though more
complementary than competitors.

Revenue by activity
(in thousands of euros)

2018

2017

Change
2018 vs. 2017

Historic & alternative telecommunications operators

6,550

14,714

-55%

Private operators

10,192

9,907

+3%

Reference Design

326

147

+ 122%

17,068

24,767

-31%

TOTAL

A slight increase was seen in the second half of the financial year compared with the first half. i.e. €8.6
million compared with €8.5 million. After an increase of 19% in the first quarter of 2018 on a like-for-like
basis, driven by large deliveries for Tier 1 operators, the Group observed a significant slowdown in the
market in the second quarter marked by a delay in the deployment pace of major IoT projects at historic telecommunications operators. This delay in extending major international projects as well as the
postponement of contracts already signed, but not executed, with Tier 1 operators, had a strong negative effect on the Group's activity in 2018.
With regard to the private network operators, the activity grew by 3% to reach €10.2 million.
Incomes relating to the Reference Design offer, which provides the Group with a differentiating value
proposal aimed at the manufacturers of connected objects, also increased during the period. The
significantly increased revenue for the Group of €0.3 million for the quarter (+122%) derived from the
sale of this solution to new manufacturers as well as the first incomes from licences granted after their
equipment was put on the market.
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BY TYPE OF SALES

Revenue by type of sales
(in thousands of euros)

2018

2017

Change
2018 vs. 2017

Sales of products

14,080

22,302

-37%

Sales of services

1,929

1,451

+33%

Sales of licences

811

675

+20%

Sales of expertise

249

340

-27%

17,068

24,767

-31%

TOTAL

Sales of products declined by 37% over a comparable period, to amount to €14,080 thousand.
Apart from the infrastructure equipment installation phase, deployments offer opportunities for the Group to
highlight its added value service offer. As such, and in accordance with the Group's expectations, the sale
of value-added services (including sales of licences and expertise) are up 21% increasing from €2.5 million to
€3 million.

BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION
REVENUE
by geographic region (in
thousands of euros)

2018

2017

Change
2018 vs. 2017

FRANCE

8,992

12,001

-25%

EMEA (excluding France)

3,339

3,507

-5%

APAC

4,309

8,698

-50%

NCSA

428

561

-24%

TOTAL

17,068

24,767

-31%

The slowdown in network deployments on the historic telecommunications operators' market penalised the
whole geographic area and especially Europe and India, the regions where the most deployments have
been made to date.
Sales of products using technologies other than LoRa® have increased by 3% and represented 49% of the
Group's income in 2018 compared with 33% in 2017.
The Group's customer base increased to 257 customers invoiced in 2018, and in 57 different countries.
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ECONOMIC PERFORMANCES
The gross margin rate improved to 44% in 2018 compared with 34% in 2017.
This increase arose from the decline of volume conducted with two Tier 1 operators to which the Group made
substantial efforts in 2017 and also thanks to the improved product / service combination.
Furthermore, the Group made substantial efforts on the cost price of the products.
Thanks to this assessment, the gross margin amounted to €7.6 million compared with €8.6 million on a like-forlike basis, i.e. a decrease of only 12%.
During the first quarter of 2018, the Group continued its structuring with reinforced marketing and sales teams
In the second quarter, the Group increased its efforts to control costs, already with an unfavourable basis
of comparison in view of the full time effect of recruitments made in 2017. Accordingly, operating expenses
(excluding R&D costs) amounted to €8.9 million compared with €8.3 million in 2017, i.e. an increase of 7.4%.
Coss for the Research and Development department increased by 131% in 2018 to amount to €4.1 million
compared to €1.8 on a like-for-like basis.
This increase may be explained by:
• the increase in the total payroll (+ €885 thousand, i.e. 44.6%)
• reduction in external services provided (- €283 thousand, i.e. 20%)
• increase in amortisation and depreciation (+ €908 thousand, i.e. 99%)
• growth of other R&D expenses (+ €193 thousand, i.e. 40%)
• reduction in the other R&D income (- €795 thousand, i.e. 24.5%)
R&D incomes are made up of the activation of expenses for innovative products and services which will
generate significant volumes of business in the future but which also include the research tax credit (CIR). In
view of the maturity of the Group's solutions, and as a precaution, the Group has only activated
€1.8 million in 2018 compared with €2.8 on a like-for-like basis.
The Group EBITDA amounted to - €3.4 million compared with - €0.3 million on a like-for-like basis.
Financial income amounted to - €79 thousand at 31 December 2018 compared with - €260 thousand on a
like-for-like basis.
WORKFORCE
Breakdown of workforce at 31 December 2018
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BALANCE SHEET
Change in shareholders' equity
At 31 December 2018, the shareholders' equity amounted to €23,095 thousand compared with €28,904
thousand in 2017. This net change of €5,809 thousand primarily comes from the consolidated result of - €5,773
thousand, by a foreign exchange loss of €18 thousand and by the impact of the allocation of stock options
(€60 thousand) to certain of the Group's employees as well as the impact of the liquidity contract of - €77
thousand.
Provisions:
Provisions for pension liabilities increased by €100 thousand for the year, explained by the increase in the
average age of the workforce as well as by the low turnover. Provisions for other liabilities decreased by
€56 thousand mainly owing to a dispute between the Group and one of its customers being resolved (€50
thousand).
Debt:
At 31 December 2018, the net debt of the Group was - €7,873 thousand compared with - €10,103 thousand
at 31 December 2017.
In the second half of 2018, the Group extended its factoring contract to include international customer
receivables. The factoring amount recognised as debt in the balance sheet was €1,390 thousand at 31
December 2018 compared with €705 thousand on a like-for-like basis.
The medium-term financial debt of the Group was down €598 thousand going from €3,191 thousand to €2,593
over the period.

(In K€)

Total debt
Shareholders’ equity
Ratio

2018

2017

2,593

3,191

23,095

28,904

11%

11%

Inventories:
The gross value of the inventories of the Group decreased by €305 thousand over the period going from €7,945
thousand to €7,640 thousand. Provisions for amortisation and depreciation were €845 thousand compared
with €447 thousand in 2017. This increase included a substantial volume of special electronic cards for a
customer which had not placed an order for more than a year.
Accordingly, inventories amounted to €6,795 thousand at 31 December 2018 compared with €7,498 thousand
at 31 December 2017.
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CHANGE IN THE CAPITAL
The share capital of Kerlink at 31 December 2018 was €1,373,248.08, divided into 5,086,104 shares each at a
nominal value of €0.27, divided as follows:

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Treasury shares:
By a decision taken on 29 March 2016, the General Meeting of Shareholders authorised the Board of Directors,
for a period of 18 months from the date of the meeting, to implement a share buy-back programme pursuant
to the provisions of Article L.225-209 of the French Commercial Code and in accordance with the general
regulations of the French Financial Market authority (AMF) under the terms and conditions described below:
•
these share purchases may be made for the purpose of any allocation allowed by the law;
•
the amount of the funds intended for the share buy-back programme is €400,000;
•
the maximum purchase price per share should not exceed 300% of the price.
Under no circumstances may the acquisitions made by the company by virtue of this authorisation lead to
holding, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the shares making up the share capital.
On 19 May 2016, the company entered into a liquidity contract with the firm Louis Capital Market the purpose
of which is to promote transaction liquidity and a regular share price for Kerlink shares without interfering with
the regular function of the market.

Liquidity agreement between Louis Capital Market and Kerlink
In euros

2018

2017

Securities

8,709

6,139

41,656

119,969

Cash
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CASH FLOW
The Group's self-financing capacity logically amounts to €3,416 thousand in view of the economic underperformance during the period. The decline in the activity led to a positive change in the WCR of €3,533
thousand primarily linked to the level of trade receivables.
The group continued its policy of investing in innovation by activating €1,803 thousand, i.e. 27% of the costs of
the Research & Development undertaken in 2018 (compared with €2,832 thousand, i.e. 56% of the R&D costs
in 2017).
The Group also took a minority interest in the American company Microshare at the start of the financial year.
(See Highlights in 2018 - p.11)
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POST-CLOSURE EVENT

In January 2019, acquisition of a 51% stake in the capital (fully diluted) of the
simplified joint stock company Wyres: a decisive competitive advantage in

indoor geo-tracking.

This stake took the form of a subscription and a capital increase in an amount
of €1,000,000 (including issue premium) financed from equity. Following this
operation, the balance of the Wyres capital (fully diluted) is held as follows:
28.19% by the founders and 20.81% by the company IOT Capital.
At the same time as this capital increase, a partnership agreement was signed
by all the Wyres partners. According to the terms thereof:
•
•

•

Wyres is chaired by Kerlink and with an Administration Committee comprised
of five members, three of whom are appointed on a proposal by Kerlink;
buy and sell commitments were reciprocally agreed by Kerlink (promise to
buy) and the other partners (promise to sell) under which terms Kerlink shall
hold the entire capital of Wyres by the end of the first quarter of 2022;
On this day, Kerlink granted Wyres an advance to the partnership current
account of €150,000 and undertook to grant to Wyres, at the latest on 31
December 2020, a current account advance of an amount of €350,000.

Creation: 2015
Workforce: 15 persons
Revenue 2018: €100
thousand
EBIDTA: - 563 K€

The Kerlink Board of Directors approved this operation. Wyres shall be included in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group as from January 2019.

OUTLOOK 2019
A difficult global context:
•

A wait-and-see attitude on the historic telecommunications operators' market due to the unsatisfactory
pace of the number of objects connecting to their networks.

•

Industries seeking turnkey solutions with proven ROI,

the KERLINK Group is hoping for a return to growth for the whole financial year incorporating a demanding
basis for comparison for the first half-year.
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INNOVATIONS

Filing of a strategic patent in the first half of 2018
22 January 2018
Entitled: "Method for locating a radio transmitter"
This patent, with worldwide coverage, protects the seamless indoor/outdoor geolocation concept.
In all, the Group filed 14 patents as at 31 December 2018.

RISK FACTORS

The risk factors are the same as those identified in Chapter 4 of the Registration Document filed on 30 March
2017 as number 17–011.
There are no government, legal or arbitration procedures, including any procedure of which the Group is
aware, that is suspended or for which there is a threat of suspension, that can have or that has had, over the
last twelve (12) months, any significant effects on the financial situation or the profitability of the company.
The Group may be involved in legal, administrative or regulatory proceedings during the normal course of
its business. A provision is recorded by the Group as soon as there is sufficient probability that such disputes
would result in costs at the expense of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
There were no significant transactions with related parties in 2018. They are described in section 6.4 of the IFRS
appendices
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Mandate

Chairman of the Board of Directors
and General Manager

Director and Deputy General
Manager

Director

Independent director

Name

William GOUESBET

Yannick DELIBIE
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Stéphane SIMONCINI as
representative of CMCIC INNOVATION*

Christian QUEFFELEC

Appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29
March 2016 until 2022, at the end of the Meeting
called to approve the financial statements for
the financial year ending 31 December 2021

Appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29
March 2016 until 2022, at the end of the Meeting
called to approve the financial statements for
the financial year ending 31 December 2021

Appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29
March 2016 until 2022, at the end of the Meeting
called to approve the financial statements for
the financial year ending 31 December 2021

Appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29
March 2016 until 2022, at the end of the Meeting
called to approve the financial statements for
the financial year ending 31 December 2021

Mandate starting and ending date

Manager of SARL ARVALLON
Manager of SARL BATTOUA
President of Kerlink Inc.

Manager of SARL ARVALLON
Manager of SARL BATTOUA
President of Kerlink Singapore PTE. Ltd
Director of Kerlink IoT Solutions India Private Ltd.

















Chairman of the Board of Directors of Astellia SA
(listed on Euronext Growth Paris) until February 2018
Director of Astellia Telecom Ltd until February 7, 2018
President and Director of Astellia Middle East S.A.L
until February 7, 2018
President of GIE PME Numérique & member of the
board of Directors of IRT BCOM until December, 2018
VP & Treasurer of Le Poool Technopole, French Tech
in St Malo since June 20, 2018

Member of the supervisory board of Defacto
Technologies until November 8, 2018
Director of Exagan
Director of IEVA
Advisory Committee member of Robart GmbH
Member of the strategic board of ISKN since May 31,
2018

As representative of CM-CIC INNOVATION:










Other current mandates in other companies

The list of all of the mandates and duties held in any company by each executive officer during the financial years ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

1 | 1 List of mandates and duties held in any company by each executive officer during the financial period

1
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Director

Appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 29
March 2016 until 2022, at the end of the Meeting
called to approve the financial statements for
the financial year ending 31 December 2021



Director of Keyz Consulting Ltd
Advisory Board Member of Tekelek Europe

Member of the Supervisory Board of Ecole Supérieure
de Commerce de Rennes
Treasurer, member of the management board of the
Bretagne Commerce International association since
July 2018
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No regulated agreement was entered into in the Company during the financial period ended 31 December 2018.

Agreements entered into during the year 2018:

No other agreement was renewed during 2018.

2

The Company entered into a rent contract with SARL BATTOUA for the premises that it occupies at 1, rue Jacqueline Auriol in Thorigné-Fouillard (35). William
GOUESBET, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Yannick DELIBIE, Director and Deputy General Manager, are both managing partners of SARL BATTOUA.
This conventional lease (governed by articles L.145-1 et seq. of the Commercial Code) took effect on 19 July 2013 for a period of 9 years, based on an annual rent
of €82,940 exc. tax, which can be revised every year in proportion to the change in the national construction costs index published by INSEE. This agreement was
authorised by the meeting of the Board of Directors on 13 April 2012.

Lease agreement with SARL BATTOUA

Agreements renewed during the year 2018:

1 | 2 Regulated agreements

mandate as Director with effect from 21 September 2018.

*At its meeting on 12 December 2018, the Board of Directors noted the resignation of CM-CIC INNOVATION, represented by Mr Stéphane SIMONCINI, from its

Robert FRATI
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Date of the
delegation

20 June 2018

20 June 2018

20 June 2018

20 June 2018

Delegation of authority

Authorisation granted to the Board of Directors to decide
to purchase the Company's own shares.

Delegation of authority granted to the Board of Directors
to proceed with reductions in the capital through the
cancelling of shares.
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Delegation of authority granted to the Board of Directors
to decide to issue, with the maintaining of preferential
subscription rights benefiting shareholders, or ordinary
shares and/or securities granting access, immediately or
in the future to the capital of the Company or to grant
debt securities.

Authorisation granted to the Board of Directors to
increase within the limit of 15% the number of securities
issued in application of the four preceding resolutions.

Nominal amount of the bonds
and other securities granting
access to the capital:
€50,000,000(2)

Nominal amount of the capital
increases: €655,000(1)

10% of the share capital per
24-month period

5% of the share capital

Ceiling authorised

26 months (with
the stipulation that
this authorisation
must be
15% of the number of securities
implemented
of the initial issue (1) and (2)
within (30) days of
the of the closure
of the subscription
of the initial issue).

26 Months

18 months

18 months

Duration of the
validity of the
delegation

None

None

None

None

Implementation of the
delegations of authority
during financial year 2018

3

The table hereinafter presents the various financial delegations that were granted to the Board by the Combined General Shareholders' Meeting of the Company:

1 | 3 Summary table of the currently valid delegations granted by the Shareholders’ Meeting
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20 June 2018

20 June 2018

20 June 2018

Delegation of authority

Delegation of authority to grant to the Board of directors
to decide to issue, in one or several times, a maximum
number of 380,000 stock subscription warrants referred to
as "BSA", giving rights to the subscription of 380,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company, this issue being reserved
for a determined category of persons (directors consultants - management team of the Company)

Delegation of authority to grant to the Board of directors
to decide to issue, in one or several times, a maximum
number of 255,000 share warrants for entrepreneurs
referred to as "BSPCE", giving rights to the subscription of
255,000 new ordinary shares of the Company, this issue
being reserved for a determined category of persons
(employees and managers of the Company falling under
the tax regime of employees of the Company)

Authorisation to be given to the Board of Directors to
proceed with a free allotment of shares
26 months

18 months

18 months

Duration of the
validity of the
delegation

255,000 shares(3)

255,000 BSPCE giving rights to
the subscription of 255,000
ordinary shares of the
Company(3)

Board of Directors at its meeting
of June 21, 2018: Allocation of
10,000 free shares

Board of Directors at its meeting
of June 21, 2018: Issuance and
allocation of 37,000 warrants to
subscribe for shares of
entrepreneurs "BCE-2018".

380,000 BSA giving rights to the Board of Directors at its meeting
subscription of 380,000
of June 21, 2018: Issuance and
ordinary shares of the
allocation of 7,500 "BSA-2018"
Company(3)
share subscription warrants

Ceiling authorised

Implementation of the
delegations of authority
during financial year 2018

4

Among the methods for exercising general management provided for in article L.225-51-1 of the commercial Code, the Board of Directors on 29 March 2016 chose
that the general management of the Company would be carried out by the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

1 | 4 Methods for exercising general management

17th resolution of the Combined General Meeting of 20 June 2018.

(3) the total number of BSPCE, BSAs and free shares to be issued by the Board of Directors may not exceed the overall limit of 380,000 warrants or shares and the nominal amount shall be deducted from the overall limit provided for in the

(2) the nominal amount of bonds and other debt securities authorised will be deducted from the amount of the overall authorised ceiling of €50,000,000 nominal value (17th resolution of the Combined General Meeting of 20 June 2018)

(1) the nominal amount of the authorized capital increases will be deducted from the amount of the authorized global ceiling of €655,000 nominal (17th resolution of the Combined General Meeting of 20 June 2018)

Date of the
delegation
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Consolidated Financial Statements IFRS

INCOME STATEMENT

In thousands of euros
Revenue

Note
4.1

Costs of purchased materials and subcontracting
Margin on cost of materials and subcontracting

12.2018

12.2017

17,068

24,767

(9,490)

(16,144)

7,578

8,623

Customer and subcontractor management expenses

4.2

(2,028)

(1,848)

Research & Development expenses

4.2

(4,130)

(1,782)

Selling expenses

4.2

(3,275)

(2,986)

Administrative expenses

4.2

Operating margin

(3,618)

(3,472)

(5,472)

(1,464)

Cost of net financial debt

(50)

(62)

Other financial income and expenses

(29)

(198)

Net financial costs

4.4

(79)

(260)

Income taxes

4.5

(221)

1,416

(5,773)

(308)

(5,773)

(308)

Net profit/(loss) of the Group
Attributable to:
Equity owners of the Group
Basic earnings per share (euro)

6.2

(1,13)

(0,07)

Diluted earnings per share (euro)

6.2

N/A

N/A

Weighted average shares outstanding (basic)

6.2

5,086,104

4,532,851

Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted)

6.2

5,187,549

4,616,510

Note

12.2018

12.2017

3.2

(3,436)

(313)

(20%)

(1%)

OPERATING PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

In thousands of euros
EBITDA 1
As a % of revenue
1 EBITDA:

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization.

Notes 1 to 6 are an integral part of these IFRS financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE GAINS AND LOSSES

In thousands of euros

Note

12.2018

12.2017

(5,773)

(308)

0

(1)

0

(1)

0

0

Items that will be recycled to profit or loss

0

0

Gains and losses recognized in equity, not transferable
to income statement

0

(1)

(5,773)

(309)

(5,773)

(309)

Net profit/(loss) for the year
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans

5.11

Items that will not be recycled to profit or loss
Deferred taxes on retirement benefit obligations

4.5 & 5.3

Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:
Equity owners of the Group

Notes 1 to 6 are an integral part of these IFRS financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

In thousands of euros

Note

12.2018

12.2017

Property, plant and equipment

5.1

1,089

1,295

Intangible assets

5.2

5,688

5,675

0

0

Investments in subsidiaries
Other non-current assets

339

70

1,866

1,826

8,982

8,866

5.4

6,795

7,498

Trade accounts receivable

5.5

4,872

9,038

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

5.6

1,069

987

Current income tax assets

5.7

855

944

Cash and cash equivalents

5.8

11,856

13,999

Total current assets

25,448

32,466

Total assets

34,430

41,332

Deferred tax assets

5.3

Total non-current assets
Inventories

Share capital

1,373

1,373

Other reserves

31,526

31,597

Translation difference
Retained earnings
Total equity
Long-term borrowings
Retirement benefit obligations

5.9

5.10 & 5.16
5.11

Provisions for other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Short-term borrowings

5.10 & 5.16

Trade accounts payables
Income tax to pay
Other current liabilities

5.14

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

(22)

(4)

(9,782)

(4,062)

23,095

28,904

1,719

2,389

446

346

52

108

2,218

2,843

2,264

1,506

2,405

3,862

61

65

4,387

4,151

9,117

9,584

34,430

41,332

Notes 1 to 6 are an integral part of these IFRS financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

In thousands of euros
Profit/(loss) before income taxes

Note

12.2018

12.2017

3.2

(5,551)

(1,724)

Depreciation and amortisation

2,082

1,303

Tax credits – CIR & CICE

5.7

(851)

(953)

Non-cash stock option charge

4.3

54

0

Gains and losses on sales
Other variations without impact in cash
Change in net working capital

5.15

Cash generated from operations before taxes and cost of net debt
Income taxes paid
Cost of net debt

4.4

Cash generated from operations

120

0

0

18

3,533

(2,914)

(613)

(4,270)

680

687

50

54

117

(3,529)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

5.1

(191)

(679)

Purchase, capitalization of intangible assets

5.2

(1,772)

(2,492)

(269)

0

0

0

(2,232)

(3,171)

6

19,156

(77)

10

Variation of financial fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital

5.9

Sale (purchase) of treasury shares
Variation in subsidies and grants

5.10

684

(198)

Proceeds from loans and borrowings

5.10

155

2,305

Repayment of borrowings

5.10

(788)

(556)

Interest paid on borrowing

(14)

(54)

Net cash from financing activities

(34)

20,663

7

(7)

(2,143)

13,956

Impact of changes in exchange rates
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

5.8

(13,999)

43

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

5.8

11,856

13,999

Notes 1 to 6 are an integral part of these IFRS financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity

Total

Share
capital

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings

Translation
difference

Equity

974

12,830

(3,753)

0

10,051

Gains and losses recognized in equity

0

0

(1)

0

(1)

Net profit / (loss)

0

0

(308)

0

(308)

0
0
400
0

0
0
18,756
0
10

(309)
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
(4)
0

(309)
0
19,156
(4)
10

In thousands of euros

Note

At 1January 2017

Total comprehensive income 2017
Stock option plan and similar expenses
Issue of ordinary shares
Translation difference
Treasury shares

4.3
5.9

At 31 December 2017

0
1,373

31,597

(4,062)

(4)

28,904

At 1 January 2018

1,373

31,597

(4,062)

(4)

28,904

Gains and losses recognized in equity

0

0

0

0

0

Net profit / (loss)

0

0

(5,773)

0

(5,773)

Total comprehensive income 2018
Stock option plan and similar expenses
Translation difference
Treasury shares

0
0
0

0
6
0
(77)

(5,773)
54
0
0

0
0
(18)
0

(5,773)
60
(18)
(77)

31,526

(9,782)

(22)

23,095

At 31 December 2018

4.3

0
1,373
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH IFRS
In these financial statements and notes, amounts are shown in thousands of euros (k€) and differences
of ± k€1 are due to rounding.
The financial statements cover a period of 12 months for the years ended 31 ST December 2018 and 31st
December 2017.
The consolidated statements include the parent company KERLINK SA, as well as its four subsidiaries:
KERLINK SINGAPORE PTE LTD, KERLINK INC, KERLINK IoT SOLUTIONS INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED and KERLINK
JAPAN KK.

1. GROUP OVERVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
Group overview
Kerlink, founded in 2004, is a global expert in providing network infrastructure solutions for the Internet of
Things (IoT). The offering includes solutions (software, hardware, and services) for incumbent and
alternative operators, businesses, and utilities. Kerlink’s products are known to be robust, easy to
integrate into all kinds of networks and fleets, compatible with the majority of global standards, and
inexpensive to operate and deploy. The services Kerlink offers cover client needs including network
planning, network performance optimisation, remote network management, and GPS-free location.
More than 125,000 products have been deployed in France and internationally for more than 257 billed
clients including GrDF, Saur, Suez, Orange, Médiamétrie, Tata Communications, Boston Networks….
Highlights of the year


On January 1, 2018, the Group implemented a new strategic model based on two Business Units:
Kerlink Infrastructure Solutions and Kerlink Advanced Services.



In February 2018, the Group announced that it had invested and formed a commercial
partnership with Microshare Inc., a US-based company specialized in IoT data management.
The partnership with Microshare supports Kerlink's strategy of moving up the IoT value chain,
beyond its core expertise in network infrastructure and operational management and
expanding the range of its value-added services. Given Kerlink's limited stake in Microshare, this
entity is not consolidated.



In September 2018, the Group announced the new IBTS 64 Highway dedicated to public and
private IoT networks at the MWCA in Los Angeles. This station has the highest communication
capacity on the market and the most robust engineering for reliable and secure IoT connectivity.



Kerlink set up a Japanese subsidiary in October 2018 to support the roll-out of LoRa networks in
Japan, accelerate the Group's growth in this country and support its global ambitions in Asia.
Tsuneo Tatara, who joined Kerlink in the autumn of 2017 as national director to drive the
company's growth in Japan, was promoted to managing director of Kerlink Japan KK.
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2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND VALUATION METHODS
2.1. PUBLICATION ENVIRONMENT
As part of its initial public offering on May 19, 2016, the Company voluntarily prepared the company’s
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the transition date was set at 1 January 2013. Until
December 31, 2016, not having a significant subsidiary, the Group’s IFRS accounts included only the
accounts of the parent company KERLINK SA. As from fiscal year 2017, the financial statements
presented are consolidated accounts which include the newly created subsidiaries.
These IFRS financial statements for the financial years ended at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017 were approved by the Board of Directors on 10th of April 2019.
2.2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The main accounting methods applied when preparing the IFRS financial statements are set out
hereinafter. Unless otherwise indicated, these methods have been permanently applied to all the
financial years presented.
Statement of Compliance
The IFRS financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS as adopted by the
European Union at 31 December 2018, and their application is mandatory at that date, with a
comparison to 31 December 2017.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the European
Union. The IFRS as adopted by the European Union can be consulted on the European Commission’s
website: http://ec.europa.eu/finance/company-reporting/ifrs-financial-statements/index_en.htm.
In addition, the financial statements include the information deemed material as required by the French
accounting standards-setter (Autorité des Normes Comptables – ANC) in Standard no. 2016-09.
First-Time Adoption of IFRS
The Group’s first IFRS-compliant accounts were prepared at 31 December 2015. IFRS 1, "First-Time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards", was applied at the transition date, 1 January
2013. The accounts were prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union in force
at 31 December 2018, for all the periods presented.
Principle of preparing financial statements
IFRS financial statements were prepared according to the historical cost convention, except as regards
certain assets and financial instruments that have been measured at their fair value at the end of each
reporting period.
Generally, historical cost is based on the fair value of the counterparty given in exchange for goods
and services.
Business Continuity
The financial statements were approved according to the business continuity principle.
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2.3. CHANGES TO STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
The IFRS standards applied are the same as at December 31, 2017, except mandatory changes set out
in the IFRS mentioned below, applicable on the 1 st of January 2018.
Standards, Amendments and Interpretations mandatory for Fiscal Years beginning after January 1, 2018:


IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with clients.
Concerning IFRS 15, the Group undertook the analysis and identification of the discrepancies
introduced by the new provisions of this standard in 2016. The analysis conducted on the impacts
of IFRS 15 was finalized in the second half of 2017 across the Group's entire scope. Subjects that
have been thoroughly analysed include hardware sales, maintenance / support contracts,
warranty extensions, and engineering projects. In light of the analyses carried out, the impact of
IFRS 15 on the Group's financial statements is insignificant, since the latter has adapted its
proposed offers to customers in order to better comply with the standard as of January 1, 2018.
The Group applies the standard as of January 1, 2018, without restating the comparative
years. The cumulative effect of the first application of the standard, recorded as equity on
January 1, 2018, is not significant. The new standard does not entail a substantial change in the
accounting principles applied by the Group.



IFRS 9: Financial instruments.
IFRS 9 introduced new provisions on the classification and valuation of financial assets for
impairment and hedge accounting.
o Classification of financial assets: IFRS 9 provides a new approach to the classification and
measurement of financial assets: the classification of financial assets is based on their
contractual cash flows and management model. The standard has three classes of
financial assets, those measured at amortized cost, those measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income and those measured at fair value through profit or loss.
These new classification provisions have no significant impact on the way in which the
Group accounts receivables, loans and equity securities.
o Impairment of financial assets: the new standard introduces a forward-looking model
based on expected losses that must apply to financial assets as of their initial recognition,
requires a provision to be established only when the loss is proved. (when their recovery
value is less than their book value). Given the very low level of historical default, the
impact of this provision is not considered significant.
o Hedge accounting: hedge accounting provisions have no significant impact on the
Group's accounting policies.
The Group applies the standard as of the fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2018, without
restating comparative years. The cumulative effect of the first application of the standard,
recognised in shareholders' equity at January 1, 2018, is insignificant. The new standard does not
result in a substantial change in the accounting principles applied by the Group.

The new amendments to the standards and interpretations of mandatory application as of January 1,
2018 had no impact on the Group's financial statements:
 Amendments to IFRS 2 "Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions"
 Interpretation IFRIC 22 "Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Payments"
 Annual improvements to IFRS 2014-2016 cycle
Standards, amendments and interpretations the application of which is mandatory for financial years
beginning after January 1, 2018 and not anticipated by the Group:


IFRS 16: Leases: applicable as of January 1, 2019
On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 "Leases". IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 and the
associated IFRIC and SIC interpretations. IFRS 16 introduces major changes in the principles for
measuring, recognising and presenting lease agreements for the lessee. It requires the Group to
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recognize, as of January 1, 2019, the vast majority of its leases in a single model equivalent to
the one used to record finance leases under IAS 17. The lessee will thus record:
o a non-current asset representative of the right to use the leased asset on the
consolidated statement of financial position;
o a financial debt representative of the obligation to pay this right on the liabilities side of
the consolidated statement of financial position;
o amortization charges for user rights and interest charges on rental debts in the
consolidated income statement.
The assessment of the impact of the application of IFRS 16 on the Group's financial statements is
being finalized based on the inventory of leases made and the analysis of their main provisions.
In particular, the Group has leases for buildings and vehicles considered today as operating
leases and for which IFRS 16 will apply.
The main simplification measures provided for in the standard and selected by the Group are as
follows:
o Exclusion of short-term contracts,
o Exclusion of contracts for low value
Regarding the transitional provisions, the Group plans to apply the standard as of the financial
year beginning on January 1, 2019, without restating comparative years. At this date, the
contract term used is its residual maturity and the discount rate used is the marginal borrowing
rate.
The impact on the balance sheet related to the first application of IFRS 16 will be around € 0.6
million.
Essential standards, amendments and interpretations published by the IASB, not adopted by the
European Union:
The Group has not anticipated any of the new standards and interpretations mentioned below that
could affect it and whose application is not mandatory as of January 1, 2018:
 Amendments to IAS 28: "Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures"
 Amendments to IAS 19: "Modification, Reduction or Liquidation of a Plan"
 Amendments to IFRS 3: "Definition of a company"
 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: "Amendment to the definition of significant term"
 Annual improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 cycle
2.4. SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
Subsidiaries
Companies in which the Group directly or indirectly controls more than half of the voting rights or has
the power to exercise control over transactions are fully consolidated.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date the control is transferred to the Group. They are no longer
consolidated from the date the control ceases. The acquisition method is used to account for the
purchase of companies by the Group.
All significant transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated, including receivables,
payables, income and expenses between Group companies as well as internal profits included in
inventories and capital gains or losses realized on disposal of fixed assets between the Group
companies.
The list of the Group's main companies is given in Note 6.7. The annual closing date for the individual
financial statements is 31 December, except for Kerlink India which closes its accounts as at 31 st March
of each year. For the needs of consolidation, accounts were issued on December 31, 2018.
2.5. CONSOLIDATION
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2.5. CONSOLIDATION

The main accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set
out below. Unless otherwise indicated, these methods have been applied on a permanent basis to all
financial years presented.
Consolidation method
The method used by the Group is full consolidation, with the parent company having exclusive control
over its four subsidiaries.
Conversion method
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's companies are valued using the
currency of the principal economic environment in which the entity operates ("functional currency").
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros, which is the Group's functional and
presentation currency.
The accounts of foreign companies, whose functional currency is different from the euro, are converted
according to the following principles:
• Balance sheet items are translated at the closing rate apart from shareholders' equity for which
historical rates are applied;
• Income statement items are translated at the average rate for the year;
• Translation differences are recognized directly in shareholders' equity under "Translation differences"
Goodwill of a foreign company is translated at the closing rate.
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate on the transaction date.
Gains or losses resulting from the settlement of these transactions and the translation of foreign currency
receivables and payables at rates in force at the balance sheet date are recognized in the income
statement under the heading "financial income".
The prices used are shown in the table below:

EUR/SGD
EUR/USD
EUR/INR
EUR/JPY

Trading as
of
31/12/2018
1.5591
1.1450
79.7298
125.8500

Average
rate
during the
year
1.5928
1.1815
80.7273
130.4078

Exchange differences relating to a monetary item that is essentially an integral part of a company's net
investment in a consolidated foreign enterprise are recorded in consolidated shareholders' equity, net
of income tax if applicable, up to the disposal or liquidation of such net investment.

Goodwill
If the acquisition price of a business differs from the corresponding share of equity, the goodwill is
analysed and broken down into the appropriate balance sheet items.
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The difference between the value of the securities acquired and the fair value of the share of net assets
identified at the date of acquisition is recorded as "goodwill" in the balance sheet.
As at December 31, 2018, the Group has no goodwill in its accounts.
2.6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
With a view to the preparation of the financial statements, Management may make estimates and
assumptions that have an impact on the application of accounting methods and the amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expenses, and the information provided in the notes.
The underlying estimates and assumptions are based on experience and other factors considered
reasonable in view of the circumstances.
They are also used as a basis for exercising judgement required to determine the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities, which cannot be obtained directly from other sources.
The use of estimates and assumptions is particularly important for:
-

The measurement of the progress-based profit of construction contracts;
The recoverable value of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets, as well as their useful
life;
Measuring provisions and social commitments;
The Research tax credit (CIR);
The tax liabilities and recognition of deferred taxes.

2.7. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets
Under IAS 38, acquired intangible assets are recognized at cost, on the assets side of the balance sheet.
The intangible assets are primarily Research & Development costs.
Research & Development Costs
Research costs are recorded as expenses when incurred.
Development costs are essentially costs incurred to develop products or protocols that result in one or
more patents.
Thus, development costs are capitalized, if the six criteria set out by IAS 38 are met:







Technical feasibility,
Intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it,
Ability to use or sell it,
Probable future economic benefits,
Availability of resources,
Ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the project.
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Capitalized development costs are only those costs that are directly attributable to a project, based on
cost tracking and analysis by project. The quota of the research tax credit and subsidies for the
capitalized projects is restated as subsidies and prepaid income
Implementation of IAS 23 Borrowing Costs did not lead to capitalizing interest.
The Group regularly analyses compliance with capitalization criteria. These costs are held on the assets
side as long as the Group retains most of the benefits and risks of the projects, and if the Group retains
intellectual property and has granted temporary use and/or operation rights to the results of the
development phases.
Ongoing development projects undergo depreciation testing per the procedures defined in Note 2.8.
Capitalized costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the expected useful life for the
Group, which is the same as the expected future economic beneficial life. This life is defined on a perproject basis, according to the economic features specific to each development project.
Software
The costs of acquiring computer software, software, and licences are entered as assets on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and start up the relevant software.
Amortization period and expense
The Group appraises whether the useful life of an intangible asset is finite or infinite.
Intangible assets having a finite life are amortized over their economic useful life and are tested for
impairment any time there is an indication that an intangible asset has been impaired. The amortization
period and the amortization method of an intangible asset having a finite useful life are re-examined at
the end of every financial year, at least.
The straight-line amortization for the main intangible assets covers a period of:
- Capitalized development costs, 3-5 years.
- Software: 3 years
Derecognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognized when it is sold or when there is no future economic benefit expected
from its use or sale. The profit or loss resulting from the derecognition of an intangible asset (calculated
as the difference between the net proceeds from the sale of the asset and its carrying amount) is
recognized as net income when the asset is derecognized.
Property, plant & equipment
Property, plant & equipment are recorded at their acquisition (or internal production) cost less total
depreciation and impairment.
Assets are subject to projected depreciable lives based on the probable useful life and conditions of
the assets as generally acknowledged in the industry, in consideration of a residual value, and
calculated according to the straight-line method, or, generally:
- Fixtures and fittings: 9-14 years
- Office & computer equipment: 3-8 years
- Furniture: 3-5 years
The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and, as appropriate, adjusted at the end of
each financial year. An asset's carrying amount is immediately written down to bring it back to its
recoverable value if the asset's carrying amount is higher than its estimated recoverable value.
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2.8 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF FIXED ASSETS
Impairment testing is carried out on property, plant & equipment and intangible fixed assets at the end
of their useful life or as soon as an indication of impairment appears. Impairment testing consists of
comparing the asset's carrying amount to its recoverable value. An asset's recoverable value is the
higher of the two: fair value less selling costs, or value in use. The value in use is based on the discounted
future cash flows that will be generated by those assets.
Intangible assets that are not yet ready for start-up undergo impairment testing at least once a year
and any time there is an indication that the asset may have been impaired.
The data used under the discounted projected cash flow method are taken from annual budgets and
multi-year plans prepared by Management. The plans consist of five-year projections. As for value in
use, it is calculated on the basis of the discounted value of future flows over the residual life of the
development costs. The discount rate of projected cash flows reflects the expected rate of return for
an investor in the Group's line of business and the risk premium specific to our Group.
The impairment tests, carried out according to the methodology described above, showed that no
depreciation was necessary. The sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions (estimated revenue,
discount rate, change in expected cash flows) involved in the determination of fair value shows that a
variation of +/- 10% would have no impact on the conclusions of the impairment tests conducted.
2.9. FINANCE LEASES AND OPERATING LEASES
At 31 December 2018, the Group was not bound by any finance leases.
A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset. For operating leases, lease payments (excluding benefits obtained by the lessor) are
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. When an operating lease
ends before the lease period expires, the exit fees are recognized as expenses of the period when the
contract ended.
2.10. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets include:
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
- financial assets at fair value through equity;
- financial assets at amortised cost such as loans and receivables.
The measurement and recognition of financial assets and liabilities are defined by IFRS 9 "Financial
Instruments".
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Certain non-consolidated and non-equity-accounted equity investments, as well as cash investments
such as negotiable debt securities, deposits and money market funds, in accordance with the Group's
liquidity risk management policy, may be designated as being recognised at fair value through profit or
loss. These assets are measured at fair value on initial recognition and subsequently. All changes in value
are recorded in the financial result.
Financial assets at fair value through equity
Non-consolidated and non-equity-accounted investments are, except in exceptional cases,
recognised as assets at fair value through other comprehensive income that cannot be recycled
through profit or loss. They are measured at fair value, both on initial recognition and subsequently.
Temporary changes in value and gains and losses on disposals are recorded in other comprehensive
income that cannot be recycled in the income statement.
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Financial assets at amortised cost
This category mainly includes various loans and receivables. They are recognised at issue at fair value
and subsequently at amortised cost using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR). When there is objective
evidence that these assets are impaired, the value of the asset is reviewed at the balance sheet date.
An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement when the carrying amount of the financial
asset exceeds its recoverable amount estimated during impairment tests. For trade receivables, the
provisioning system also covers expected losses.
2.11. INVENTORIES
Inventories are recognized at the lower of: cost and net realizable value.
Supply inventories are valued using the weighted average unit cost method.
Semi-finished and finished products and works in progress were measured at their standard production
cost.
A provision for impairment was created each time the realizable value or the current market price was
lower than the inventory value.

2.12. CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
For the balance sheet, the “Cash and cash equivalents” item includes the cash in banks and term
deposits (with maturities less than three months or dischargeable at any time).
Bank overdrafts are included in current liabilities in "Borrowings and financial debts."
For the purposes of the cash flow table, cash and cash equivalents include cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of bank loans and overdrafts.
2.13. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Foreign currency transactions are converted to euro at the exchange rate in force on the transaction
date. On the closing date, monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted to euro at
the closing exchange rate. The resulting gains or losses on foreign exchange are recognized as income
or loss for the period.
2.14. EQUITY AND CAPITAL INCREASE EXPENSES
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Classification as shareholders’ equity results from the specific analysis of the characteristics of each
issued instrument. Accordingly, preference shares have been classified as equity instruments.
According to IAS 32, external expenses directly linked to an issue of new shares other than for reacquiring
are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax. It is recognized in this
standard that if the capital increase is carried out in conjunction with an IPO, the expenses incurred are
apportioned reasonably between the existing shares and the new shares. Only costs related to the issue
of new shares are recorded as a reduction of equity.
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2.15. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
Pursuant to IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group records a provision
at the end of the reporting period for each event that fulfils all the following conditions:


The existence of a legal or constructive obligation resulting from an event occurring prior to the end
of the reporting period;



The probability or certainty that an outflow of funds to a third party will be necessary to settle the
obligation without compensation after the end of the reporting period;



The existence of a reliable valuation estimate.

The estimated value of provisions is reviewed at the end of each reporting period. Provisions are
maintained for as long as the Group is unable to determine their outcome with clarity and certainty.
Excluding exceptional, duly substantiated cases, provisions are presented on the balance sheet under
non-current liabilities.
Provisions are discounted if necessary. For the Group, the impact of this rule concerns only provisions for
employee benefits.
Provisions for contingencies and losses relate primarily to litigation and other risks.
The amount recognized as a provision represents the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the obligation. Management bases its judgement on the circumstances of each event and the
available information. However, given the difficulty of estimating certain commitments in these areas
(particularly those of a social, environmental or commercial nature), we cannot guarantee that the
costs will not ultimately exceed the provisioned amounts.
Provisions for warranty costs
A provision is made for costs to be incurred in future years to honour warranties for material sold. The
costs incurred represent the cost of labour and the cost of spare parts.

2.16. EMPLOYEES BENEFITS
Pension commitments
The Group’s obligations regarding compensation (as stipulated by legislation or in agreements) upon
retirement were evaluated on 31 December 2018 using the projected unit credit method. The method
considers the following actuarial assumptions:
the estimated duration of future service by the employee;
future salary;
life expectancy;
staff turnover.
The calculated obligation is discounted (using IBOXX Corporates AA 10+ index) and recognized
according to the years of service of employees, considering the corresponding social security
contributions.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as other comprehensive income.
Long-service awards
The Group does not recognize commitments for long-service awards because they represent an
immaterial amount.
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BSPCE plans
The Group grants stock options in the form of “share options for business creators” (Bons de souscription
de parts de créateur d'entreprise/BSPCE). The fair value of the services provided by the employees in
order to receive the option discount is recognized as an expense over the vesting period, offset by an
equity account entry. Income net of transaction costs is credited to share capital (nominal value) and
other reserves when the options are exercised.
Employee bonuses
The Group recognises a liability and a personnel expense for bonuses according to calculation formulas
that consider the earnings of the companies in question. The Group recognises a provision when there
is a contractual obligation or if a constructive obligation exists due to a past practice.
2.17. STOCK OPTION AND SIMILAR PLANS
Some employees of the Group receive compensation in the form of share-based payment through
either:
- A “share options for business creators” (Bons de souscription de parts de créateur d'entreprise/BSPCE)
plan.
- A “share options with warranty” (Bons de souscription d’actions) plan.
- An “allocation of free share” (Attribution Gratuite d’actions) plan.
Pursuant to IFRS 2, the cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized as an expense for the period in
which the rights to the equity instruments are acquired, against a corresponding increase in equity.
If an employee leaves the Group during the vesting period, the expenses previously recorded for the
employee pursuant to IFRS 2 are reversed for the financial year. Kerlink has implemented IFRS 2 for all
equity instruments granted since the Group’s creation.
The fair value of the granted options is determined by applying the Black-Scholes-Merton options pricing
model.
Note 5.12 presents these items in detail.

2.18. BORROWINGS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, net of transaction costs incurred if they are material.
Kerlink has taken out various loans and credit lines.
The Group has conducted a specific review of its liquidity risk and believes that it is able to meet its future
commitments.
In March 2016, the Group entered into a factoring contract. According to IFRS 9, in order to determine
whether the transfer of receivables to the factoring company results in derecognition of receivables
and payables, the entity's exposure to the risks and benefits associated with the transfer of credit assets.
Since the contract signed by the Group is not without recourse, the assets cannot be derecognized and
are therefore valued as trade receivables in exchange for financial debts.

2.19. PUBLIC SUBSIDIES RECEIVABLE
The Group receives several forms of public assistance, namely conditional advances and subsidies. This
assistance is detailed in Note 5.10.
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Repayable advances
The Group obtains non-interest-bearing repayable advances for the financing of its collaborative
projects and certain research and development projects. The difference between the present value of
the advance at the market rate (i.e. the principal ultimately repaid in the absence of interest flows,
adjusted at the market rate) and the amount received in cash from the public body constitutes a
subsidy as defined in IAS 20. This difference must be recorded as a subsidy related to income insofar as
the research and development costs generated as part of the project are recognized immediately as
expenses and is recorded as income in the statement of comprehensive income.
The financial cost of the repayable advances calculated at the market rate is subsequently posted to
financial expenses.
Subsidies are presented in the income statement as a deduction from “Research and Development
Expenses” as they constitute assistance for innovation and the financing of research activities.
Subsidies
Subsidies received are recorded as soon as the corresponding receivable becomes reasonably certain,
considering the conditions set for the granting of the subsidy.
Operating subsidies are recorded in “Research and Development Expenses”, considering, where
applicable, the timing of the corresponding expenses in accordance with the principle of matching
expenses to income.
2.20. SECTOR INFORMATION
Pursuant to IFRS 8-Operating Segments, the sector information presented is established on the basis of
the internal reporting data used to analyse the performance of activities and the allocation of resources
by the Group Strategic Committee, which is comprised of the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Technical and Innovation Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and Financial Officer, the Chief Human
Resources Officer, and the Chief Marketing Officer. They constitute Kerlink's main operational decisionmaking body.
In 2018, internal reporting is defined along two main lines: Business Units (Infrastructure Solutions,
Advanced Services) and sales types (products and services). Kerlink, through the Management
Committee has chosen business units as the main line to structure its business. Accordingly, and pursuant
to IFRS 8, the Group presents two Business Units:


The Business Unit "Kerlink Infrastructure Solutions" enable the Group to consolidate and develop
its position as an international referent for providing high quality network infrastructures and
services enabling its public and private operators to deploy and deploy operate their
connectivity offerings dedicated to the Internet of Things;



The Business Unit "Kerlink Advanced Services" has the strategic goal of making Kerlink a leader
in providing value-added solutions that enable its business application developer clients to
quickly design and fully exploit their fleet of connected objects (steering and geolocation
services for objects connected to networks and Reference Design offers).

The Management Committee evaluates the performance of these Business Units based on revenue and
EBITDA. As the assets and liabilities connected to these sectors are not covered in a specific report to
the Management Committee, no information is presented by operating segment in the notes within the
scope of IFRS 8.
Financial data by operating segment is compiled according to the same rules as those used for IFRS
financial statements. The information provided regarding these Business Units is not reported on a
consolidated basis.
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2.21. PRESENTATION OF THE INCOME STATEMENT
Kerlink presents its income statement by function, as defined in Recommendation 2013-03 of the ANC
(France's accounting standards authority). Details on income and expenses are provided in Notes 4.1
and 4.2.
Purchasing costs and sub-contracting
Purchasing costs and sub-contracting consist essentially of:
 purchases of components and other products necessary to produce the goods sold;
 third party services for the manufacture, assembly and testing of the goods sold;
 customs duties, transport costs and other taxes directly attributable to these purchases;
 the cost of outside personnel, IT hosting and telephone lines directly attributable to the sale of
services.

EBITDA
EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation & Amortisation) is an indicator that measures the
contribution from business activity before the amortization and depreciation of fixed assets.
Operating profit/loss
Operating profit/loss encompasses all the income and expenses directly linked to the Group’s activities,
whether they are recurring or the result of one-time decisions or operations.
Net cost of financial debt
All the expenses and income resulting from the net financial debt during the period, representing the
Group’s overall cost of financing, excluding the cost of equity.
2.22. REVENUE
The main types of contracts identified at the Group are contracts pertaining to the sale of products in
series (base stations, gateways, concentrators, etc.), contracts pertaining to the provision of services
(mainly related to research and development) and licensing agreements. In the course of its operations,
the Group also signs multiple-element arrangements for goods and services, which may correspond to
a combination of different services. In such instances, the revenue is recognized separately for each
element provided when they are identifiable separately.
Contracts for the sale of products
In accordance with IFRS 15, revenue is only recognised if the Group has transferred control of the assets
to the buyer and it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to
the Group. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, net of any discounts
and rebates and excluding VAT and other taxes.
Contracts related to research and development
Regarding contracts pertaining to research and development, revenue is recognized if:
the stage of completion can be measured reliably;
the costs incurred, or to be incurred, in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
The earnings on contracts for the rendering of research and development services are recorded by
reference to the stage of completion. The stage of completion is determined by comparing the costs
incurred to date to the total cost provided for in the contract. If the earnings on a contract cannot be
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estimated reliably, the revenue is recognized only to the extent of the incurred costs of the contract
that are expected to be recoverable.
Licensing agreements
The licensing agreements in use pertain exclusively to software. The revenue related to the royalties
collected based on the number of items deployed is recognized as and when it is acquired.
2.23. RESEARCH TAX CREDIT
Research tax credits are awarded to companies by the French government to encourage them to
carry out technical and scientific research. Companies that evidence expenses that meet the required
criteria are eligible for a tax credit that may be used toward the payment of the corporate tax due for
the financial year in which the expenses are incurred and the following three financial years. If
applicable, the remaining portion is reimbursed.
The research tax credit is presented in the statement of comprehensive income as a deduction from
“Research and Development Expenses”.
2.24. TAXES
The income tax expense is comprised of current tax and deferred tax. Deferred taxes are stated for all
temporary differences resulting from the difference between the tax base and accounting base for
assets and liabilities disclosed in the financial statements. The main temporary differences are related to
tax loss carryforwards.
For the reporting period ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018, the rate used is 25%. This
change is due to article 41 of the French Finance Law for 2018, which stipulates a reduction of the
corporate tax rate to 25%, is to be phased in between 2018 and 2022.
Deferred tax assets are recorded if there is a high probability that tax expenses will be set against future
taxable earnings. In assessing the Group’s ability to recover these assets, forecasts of future taxable
profits and records of taxable income for previous years are taken into account. Deferred tax assets are
only recognized if it likely that future profits will be sufficient to absorb the losses carried forward. In
respect of the 2017 financial year, part of the loss carryforwards of the parent company has been
activated. Deferred tax assets related to tax loss carryforwards are activated in view of the
recoverability outlook resulting from the Group's budget and medium-term plans. The assumptions used
are identical to those used for the asset value tests.
On the income statement, the CICE tax credit for competitiveness and employment is deducted from
personnel expenses (Note 4.3), and the CVAE (value-added contribution for businesses) is included as
part of “other expenses” under “Administrative Expenses” (Note 4.2).
2.25. METHODS FOR CALCULATING EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to shareholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to shareholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for the impact of
the conversion of dilutive securities into ordinary shares. The Group uses the following categories of
dilutive securities: stock options.
2.26. MANAGEMENT AND EVALUATION OF FINANCIAL RISK
Kerlink may become exposed to different kinds of financial risk.
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The Group employs simple methods appropriate to its size to limit the potentially unfavourable impacts
from these risks to its financial standing.
The Group affirms that it does not use financial instruments for speculative purposes.
Interest rate risk
The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate risk as it has not incurred any variable-rate
debt.
Foreign exchange risk
The main risks associated with the impacts of foreign currency exchange are deemed immaterial. The
Group has bank accounts in US dollars.
At this stage of its development, the Group has not used hedging to protect its business against
exchange rate fluctuation. A natural cover is provided due to similar volumes of purchases and sales in
USD.
Liquidity risk
Since its creation, the Company has financed its growth through the strengthening of its capital base,
employing successive capital increases, bonds convertible into shares, bonds redeemable for shares,
public assistance for innovation (BPI France repayable advances), the repayment of receivables
associated with the research tax credit and bank loans.
The Group is not exposed to liquidity risk related to the potential exercise of early redemption clauses
on bank loans.
Despite a comfortable level of liquidity at the end of December 2018, The Group monitors its risk of
liquidity shortages on a regular basis through monitoring mechanisms.
Credit risk
The exposure to credit risk is associated with the research tax credit, cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable:
Receivables associated with the research tax credit present a credit risk that is deemed immaterial
in view of the Group’s history;
Regarding its cash investments, the Group deals with leading financial institutions and therefore
does not bear material credit risk associated with cash flow. A factoring agreement was signed on
4 March 2016;
Regarding accounts receivable, credit risk exists in that a loss may occur if a customer fails to honour
its commitments within the agreed timeframe. This credit risk associated with accounts receivable is
limited due to internal procedures in place and the signing of a credit insurance policy with COFACE
on 3 March 2016.
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3. NOTES RELATED TO SEGMENT REPORTING
3.1. INFORMATION BY OPERATING SEGMENT
Revenue
In thousands of euros
Private Networks
Incumbent and Alternative Operators
Reference Design
Total revenue

2018

2017

Change 18 vs 17

10,192

9,907

3%

6,550

14,714

(55%)

326
17,068

147

122%

24,767

(31%)

Sales decreased by 31% to € 17 million, compared to € 25 million for the financial year 2017.
Among incumbent telecom operators, the market faced a shift in the pace of deployments of large IoT
projects. This slowdown is mainly due to the following:
- Immature market: complexity of IoTs projects (applications, sensors, deployment) with longer time to
market than expected,
- A business model that is seeking itself: cost of connectivity too expensive for IoT use cases,
- Delay in the standardization of the technology especially on the Roaming part.
With private network operators, revenue is up 3%.
Kerlink wants to speed up its growth with private network operators by offering end-to-end solutions
meeting specific needs.
The Reference Design offer, which enables manufacturers to quickly and easily integrate the network
connectivity solution into the items they manufacture, continues to grow in line with the Group's
projections.
EBITDA
In thousands of euros

2018

Kerlink Infrastructure Solutions
Kerlink Advanced Services
EBITDA

2017

(3,652)

561

216
(3,436)

(873)
(313)

This indicator is used by Management to monitor and track the performance of the activities and to
decide on the allocation of resources.
3.2. RECONCILIATION WITH GROUP DATA
The table below reconciles EBITDA with consolidated operating margin:

In thousands of euros
EBITDA 1
Depreciation and amortization of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets

Operating margin

2018

2017

(3,436)

(313)

(2,037)

(1,1151)

(5,472)

(1,464)
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1 EBITDA:

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

The net income before tax in the cash flow is calculated as follows:
In thousands of euros

Note

Net profit/(loss) of the year
Income taxes

Profit/(loss) before income taxes

2018

2017

(5,773)

(308)

221

(1,416)

(5,551)

(1,724)

3.3. REPORTING BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
Information by geographic area
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Change in %
18 vs 17

France

8,992

12,001

(25%)

EMEA hors France

3,339

3,507

(5%)

APAC

4,309

8,697

(50%)

428

561

(24%)

17,068

24,767

(31%)

NCSA
Total revenue

The international contribution to total business activity came to 47% in 2018, versus 52% in 2017.
3.4. BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE BY MAJOR CUSTOMER
The top 10 customers account for 71% of revenue in 2018, compared to 73% in 2017.
In thousands of
euros

%

Client A

8,328

34%

Client B

2,772

11%

Client C

1,694

7%

In thousands of
euros

%

Client A

3,787

22%

Client D

1,597

9%

Client E

1,139

7%

2017

2018

The Group invoiced more than 257 customers in 57 countries during 2018, compared with just over 330
in 69 countries for 2017.
Historical customers renew their trust year after year and continue the deployment of the Group’s
recognized equipment. On the same dynamic of development, the Group demonstrated its ability to
conduct large-scale projects and conquer leading references.
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3.5. NON-CURRENT ASSETS BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

France

8,966

8,858

Rest of the world

16
8,982

8

Total non-current assets

8,866

The non-current assets in the rest of the world correspond to investments in the Group's subsidiaries.
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4. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT
4.1. REVENUES
Revenue include sales of products and services. They are measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable, net of any trade discounts and volume rebates and excluding any VAT or
other taxes.
Information by type of product
In thousands of euros
Sales of equipment
Sales of services
Sales of reference Design
Total revenue

2018

2017

Change in
% 18 vs 17

14,080

22,302

(37%)

2,663

2,319

15%

326

147

121%

17,068

24,767

(31%)

2%

1%

82%

90%

16%

2018
Sales of services

9%

Sales of equipment

2017
Sales of reference Design

As a result, sales of services (including license sales and expertise sales) improved, rising from € 2.3 million
to € 2.7 million, an increase of 15% on a like-for-like basis.

Page 26

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

114

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KERLINK GROUP

Consolidated Financial Statements IFRS
4.2. EXPENSES BY NATURE ALLOCATED PER FUNCTION
Customer and subcontractor management expenses
The costs of the network monitoring / customer support services and management of the relationship
with the subcontractors are broken down as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Salaries and social charges
Travelling expenses
Amortisation
Other expenses
Total

1,751
18
92
166

1,494
21
92
241

2,028

1,848

In 2017 and 2018, the support team continued to structure itself, especially within the subsidiaries. This
reinforcement of the teams makes it possible to best satisfy the improvement of the customer
experience proposing a support service in line with market expectations.
Research & Development expenses
R&D expenses break down as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Salaries and social charges
Prototypes costs
External personnel costs
Amortization of R&D costs
Other R&D expenses
Total Research and Development costs
Capitalized development expenditure
Research tax credit (CIR)
Grants and subsidies
Total Research and Development income
Total

2,870
85
1,130
1,821
675

1,985
234
1,413
913
482

6,580
(1,803)
(647)
0

5,027
(2,832)
(413)
0

(2,450)
4,130

(3,245)
1,782

In 2018, the Group continue to intensify its research and development efforts in response to a very
significant increase in customer demand and a strategy focused on innovative products, and the rise
in the value chain.
At the end of 2018, 12 staff from service provider companies were working full-time on the Company's
site and contributing to the innovation effort within the Research & Development department.
Selling expenses
Marketing and commercial costs breakdown as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Salaries and social charges
Travelling expenses
Consultancy & advisory fees
Trade shows and marketing
Amortisation
Other commercial expenses
Total

2,243
309
211
254
47
211

1,718
416
183
296
81
291

3,275

2,986
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Sales teams were strengthened in 2018 with the hiring of 3 new employees, including Tsuneo TATARA
who joined the Japanese subsidiary as Vice-President in October 2018. The Tokyo-based subsidiary
develops and leads the Group’s expansion across Japan.
The Marketing team has also grown up with the hiring of 2 new employees, in order to structure the offer
of the Business Units.
Administrative expenses
Administrative and overhead costs break down as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Salaries and social charges
Consultancy & advisory fees
Seminars and travelling expenses
Accruals
Depreciation and amortisation
Other expenses
Total

1,877
783
233
(37)
77
685

1,867
701
129
68
64
642

3,618

3,472

2018

2017

5

5

Managers / Engineers

97

88

Employees

17

22

119

115

2018

2017

111

110

Kerlink Singapore Pte Ltd.

2

2

Kerlink Inc.

2

2

Kerlink IOT Solutions India Pvt Ltd

2

1

Kerlink Japan

2

0

119

115

4.3. PERSONNEL COSTS AND HEADCOUNT
Headcount
Executives

Total headcount

Headcount at the end of the year by Company
Kerlink SA

Total headcount

The workforce at the end of financial year is 119 employees against 115 in 2017.
The average workforce at December 31, 2018 is 115 employees, compared with 98 at December 31,
2017.
Headcount at the end of the year
Customer service activities and subcontractors
management
Research & Development
Sales and marketing
Administrative
Total headcount

2018

2017

31

33

40
26
22

38
23
21

119

115
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In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Customer service activities and subcontractors
management
Research & Development
Sales and marketing
Administrative

1,751

1,494

2,870
2,243
1,877

1,985
1,718
1,867

Personnel expenses

8,741

7,065

In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Wages and salaries

6,053

4,918

Social security charges

2,497

2,122

6

28

54

0

Tempory staff
Non-cash expenses related to share based
payments
Pension expenses under defined contribution
plans (Note 5.11)

100

121

31

(124)

Personnel expenses

8,741

7,065

* o/w CICE

(133)

(124)

Other personnel costs*

4.4. NET FINANCIAL COSTS
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Borrowing costs

39

54

Amortization of borrowing costs

11

8

Cost of net financial debt

50

62

(24)

(17)

0

(37)

Other financial income and expenses
Gains and losses on foreign exchange
transactions

47

68

6

184

Net financial costs

79

260

Income from financial investments
Net interest cost arising on provisions
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4.5. TAX PROOF
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Current taxes

(261)

(66)

Deferred taxes (Note 5.3)
Total

40

1,482

(221)

1,416

Deferred tax assets arising from tax losses are recognized only for the deferred tax portion attributable
to probable future profits. For financial year 2017, the Group can determine with sufficient certainty that
Kerlink will record profits in the near future. A part of tax loss carryforward has been activated.
The differences between the theoretical tax rate applicable in France, used for the preparation of IFRS
accounts, and the effective tax rate recorded during the year are as follows:
In thousands of euros
Result before income taxes
Theoretical tax expense (Average rate 34,65%
in 2018)

2018

2017

(5,551)

(1,724)

1,924

575

(2,371)

(656)

(70)

0

0

9

25

12

14

0

0

0

0

1,750

0

(308)

(29)

25

0

19

285

(10)

(221)

1,416

0

0

(221)

1,416

Impact on taxes:
Unrecognized tax losses
Local taxes and withholding tax
Fair value of the zero rate loans
Pension expenses under defined contribution
plans
Non-cash expenses related to share based
payments
Origination and reversal of temporary
differences
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax
losses
Research tax credit (CIR)
Impact of rate differences of foreign affiliates

Impact of variation in tax rates
Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable
income
Total tax expense per income statement
Tax on items recognized in equity
Total tax expense per statement of
comprehensive gains and losses
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5. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
5.1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Equipment &
technical
installations

Other property,
plant and
equipment

Total

Opening net carrying amount

789

133

922

Additions/ reclassification

528

152

680

0

(2)

(2)

Depreciation and impairment

(243)

(62)

(306)

Closing net carrying amount

1,073

222

1,295

Cost or valuation

1,752

507

2,259

Cumulative depreciation & impairment

(679)

(285)

(964)

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017

1,073

222

1,295

1,073

222

1,295

127

63

191

0

0

0

(320)

(76)

(396)

880

209

1,089

Cost or valuation

1,879

570

2,449

Cumulative depreciation & impairment

(999)

(361)

(1,360)

880

209

1,089

In thousands of euros

As of 31 December, 2017

Disposals

As of 31 December, 2018
Opening net carrying amount
Additions/ reclassification
Disposals
Depreciation and impairment
Closing net carrying amount

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2018

The Group does not own the premises it occupies.
In addition, expenses amounting to € 106 k for the year ended December 31, 2018, and € 401 k for 2017
have been capitalized. These expenses are solely the production costs of test benches, equipment
entrusted to the subcontractors and necessary for functional tests of products during the manufacturing
process.

Page 31

KERLINK - 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

119

KERLINK GROUP

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Financial Statements IFRS
5.2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In thousands of euros

Assets in progress

Research and
development
expenses

Other
intangible
assets

Total

As of 31 December, 2017
Opening net carrying amount

2,093

1,521

415

4,028

(1,367)

3,795

64

2,492

0
0

0

0

0

(663)

(183)

(845)

Closing net carrying amount

726

4,653

296

5,675

Cost or valuation

726

7,219

658

8,603

0

(2,566)

(362)

(2,928)

726

4,653

296

5,675

Opening net carrying amount

726

4,653

296

5,675

Additions/ reclassification

681

1,037

54

1,772

(120)

0

0

(120)

Additions/ reclassification
Disposals
Depreciation and impairment

Cumulative depreciation & impairment
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017
As of 31 December, 2018

Disposals
Depreciation and impairment

0

(1,435)

(205)

(1,640)

Closing net carrying amount

1,287

4,256

145

5,688

Cost or valuation

1,287

8,257

712

10,256

0

(4,001)

(567)

(4,568)

1,287

4,256

145

5,688

Cumulative depreciation & impairment
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2018

Assets in progress stand for developing products and software.
No impairment of intangible assets was recognized.
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5.3. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using an
enacted tax rate of 25%. The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

At beginning of year

1 826

344

Taxes recognized on other comprehensive income

0

0

Tax expense recognized in income statement (Note
4.5)

40

1 482

1 866

1 826

At end of year

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset in non-current items in accordance with IAS 12,
as only the parent company generates deferred taxes and Kerlink SA is a single French tax entity in 2018.
The amounts of deferred taxes are shown in the balance sheet as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Deferred tax assets

1,866

1,826

0

0

1,866

1,826

Deferred tax liabilities
Total

The breakdown of recognized deferred income tax is as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Fair value of the zero rate loans

(18)

(18)

Pension expenses under defined contribution plans

111
0

86

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses

1,750

1,750

0

(2)

Cancellation of tax specific depreciation
Non-cash expenses related to share based
payments
Impact of variations in tax rates

22
0

Total

1,866

0

9
0
1,826

Losses carried forward are detailed below:
Period

In thousands of euros

Before 01/01/2014

2,997

31/12/2014

796

31/12/2015

1,299

31/12/2016

3,507

31/12/2017

4,014

31/12/2018

7,083
Total

19,697
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In respect of the 2017 financial year, part of the loss carryforwards of the parent company has been
activated. Deferred tax assets related to tax loss carryforwards are activated in view of the
recoverability outlook resulting from the Group's budget and medium-term plans. The assumptions used
are identical to those used for the asset value tests.
5.4. INVENTORIES
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Raw materials and supplies

2,736

3,004

Semi-finished goods and finished goods

4,904

4,941

Less: Provision for impairment of inventories

(845)

(447)

Total

6,795

7,498

Changes in impairment of inventories
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

447

63

0

0

Addition

426

411

Decrease

(28)

(27)

Closing net carrying amount

845

447

Opening net carrying amount
Exchange differences

An impairment charge of € 426 K was recognized during the year, compared to € 411 K in the previous
year.
This impairment considers inventories of specific cards, for customers who did not order for more than a
year.
5.5. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Trade accounts receivable - gross

4,900

9,048

(28)

(10)

4,872

9,038

Less: Provision for impairment of receivable
Total

In 2018, €496k are receivables payable in more than a year. In 2017, 599 K€ were payable in more than
a year.
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5.6. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

0

0

Prepaid expenses

263

227

Other receivables

806

759

0

0

1,069

987

Prepayments

Less: Provision for impairment
Total

Other receivables are essentially made up of a VAT credit of €574 k.
5.7. CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS
In thousands of euros
Research tax credit (CIR) recognized in the income
statement
Activated research tax credit (CIR)
Amortisation of research tax credit (CIR)
Regularization CIR
Research tax credit claim
Tax credit for encouraging competitiveness and jobs
(CICE)
Apprenticeship tax credit
Withholding tax credit

2018

2017

647

413

465

547

(393)

(132)

0

(9)

718

819

133

124

0

1

4

0

855

944

2018

2017

0

0

Cash in hand

3,765

2,411

Term deposits and investments

8,050

11,468

42

120

Overdraft

11,856
0

13,999
0

Cash balance

11,856

13,999

Tax credits

5.8. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS
In thousands of euros
Securities

Liquidity agreement funds
Cash & cash equivalents

5.9. EQUITY
The share capital has changed as follows between 31st December 2017 and 31st December 2018:

Period
31/12/2017
31/12/2018

Opening

Capital
increase

Closing

Par value

Share capital

3,605,341
5,086,104

1,480,763
0

5,086,104
5,086,104

0,27
0,27

1,373,248
1,373,248
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In 2017, a capital increase through a public offering was recorded by issuing 1,273,165 common shares.
The subscription application for a reduction in the number of shares resulted in a capital increase
through the issuance of 207,598 new shares.
The breakdown of the shares is detailed in the table below:
Number of shares

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

Ordinary shares

5,086,104

5,086,104

3,605,341

Total

5,086,104

5,086,104

3,605,341

Characteristics of BSPCE
BSPCE 2013

BSPCE 2015

BSPCE 2018

Date of the Shareholders’ Meeting

12-avr-13

29-juin-15

20-juin-18

Date of the Board / Chairman’s decision

12-avr-13

29-juin-15

21-juin-18

22,500

15,000

255,000

No. of options authorised initially
No. of option granted

22,500

5,000

37,000

First BSPCE option exercise date

12-avr-16

29-juin-18

21-juin-21

Last BSPCE option exercise date

12-avr-23

29-juin-25

21-juin-28

7,94 €

10 €

15,77 €

(1)

(2)

(3)

3,600

0

0

Subscription price in €
Terms and conditions of exercise
Number of options
Cumulative number of BSPCE cancelled or lost

5,100

0

0

Number of remaining BSPCE

13,800

5,000

37,000

Number of potential shares issued from BSPCE
after ¼ split (Note 5.12)

55,200

20,000

N/A

Terms and conditions of exercise of BSPCE 2013:
The BSPCE may be exercised by the beneficiary only provided the beneficiary is still present in the Group
on the exercise date.
The BSPCEs may be exercised at any time from their issuance until 12 April 2023 at midnight. The rights
to exercise the BSPCE will be open in the following quantities and periods:
 One third of the options issued may be exercised as of 12 April 2016, if the beneficiary is an
employee or officer (the "presence condition") on that date;
 One third of the options issued may be exercised as of 12 April 2017, if the presence condition is
met on that date;
 One third of the warrants issued may be exercised as of 12 April 2018 if the presence condition
is fulfilled on that date; it being specified that in the event of the admission of the Company's
shares on a regulated market, the options all become immediately exercisable.
(1)

Terms and conditions of exercise of BSPCE 2015:
The BSPCE may be exercised by the beneficiary only provided that the beneficiary is still present in the
Group on the exercise date.
The BSPCEs may be exercised at any time from their issuance until 29 June 2025 at midnight. The rights
to exercise the BSPCE will be open in the following quantities and periods:
 as of 29 June 2018, to the extent of 1,667 BSCPE;
 as of 29 June 2019, to the extent of 1,667 BSPCE;
 effective 29 June 2020, to the extent of 1,666 BSPCE;
The rights to exercise BSPCEs arising in respect of a period but not used in respect of that period will be
cumulative with those of the following periods.
(3) Terms and conditions of exercise of BSPCE 2018:
(2)
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The BSPCE may be exercised by the beneficiary only provided that the beneficiary is still present in the
Group on the exercise date.
The BSPCEs may be exercised at any time from their issuance until 21 June 2028
Characteristics of BSA
BSA 2018
Date of the Shareholders’ Meeting

20-juin-18

Date of the Board’s decision

21-juin-18

No. of options authorised initially
No. of option granted

380,000
7,500

First BSPCE option exercise date

21-juin-21

Last BSPCE option exercise date

21-juin-28

Grant price in €
Purchase or subscription price in €
Terms and conditions of exercise
Number of options

2,24 €
15,77 €
(1)

0

Cumulative number of BSA cancelled or lost

5,000

Number of remaining BSA

2,500

(1) Terms

and conditions of exercise of BSA 2018:
The warrants are issued at a unit price equal to €2.24.
The BSA may be exercised by the beneficiary only provided that the beneficiary is still present in the
Group on the exercise date.
The BSA may be exercised at any time from their issuance until 21 June 2028.
Characteristics of AGA
AGA 2018
Date of the Shareholders’ Meeting

20-juin-18

Date of the Board’s decision

21-juin-18

No. of shares issued

10,000

Definitive acquisition date

21-juin-20

End of retention period

21-juin-22

Share price at attribution date

15,55 €

Shares may only be acquired by their beneficiary under the condition that the said beneficiary is still
present in the Group on the date of the definitive grant of the shares, i.e. on June 21, 2020.
Liquidity agreement
Following its initial public offering on the Euronext Growth Paris market, on 19 May 2016, the Company
signed a liquidity agreement with Louis Capital Market LLP (LCM) to promote the liquidity of Kerlink’s
shares.
In this context, the Company has entrusted 200,000 euros to LCM for the latter to take positions in both
the purchase and the sale of the Company's shares. The portion of the contract that is invested in the
Company's own shares by this service provider is recorded as a diminution of the Group’s equity for their
acquisition costs. At December 31, 2018, treasury shares totalled €156 K€.
The cash reserve related to the liquidity contract is presented in cash (see Note 5.8).
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5.10. BORROWINGS
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Borrowings

2,593

3,191

1,390
(11,856)

705
(13,999)

Net financial debt

(7,873)

(10,103)

Cash in hand

11,815

13,879

42

120

Total borrowings

3,983

3,895

More than one year
Less than one year

1,719

2,389

2,264

1,506

Total borrowings

3,983

3,895

Factor
Cash & cash equivalents

Liquidity agreement cash balance

The table below shows the change in current and non-current borrowings:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

At beginning of year

3,191

1,467

36

(26)

Proceeds from borrowings

155

2,305

Repayment of borrowings

(788)

(556)

At end of year

2,593

3,191

Factor

705

Bank overdrafts

1,390
0

Total borrowings

3,983

3,895

Undiscounting impact

0

BPI France Loans
The Group obtained several loans from BPI France detailed in the tables below:
Amount awarded

2018

2017

Zero-rate loan for innovation 2011

408 K€

81,6

163,2

Zero-rate loan for innovation 2014

1 000 K€

617

796

Zero-rate loan for innovation 2017

1 000 K€

962

948

1 661

1 907

Total

ZERO-RATE LOAN FOR INNOVATION (2011)
Amount: €408,000.00 (€408,000.00 received on 9 February 2012)
Interest rate: 0%
Repayment: from March 2015 to March 2019 (20 quarterly strait-line instalments)
Project: design and development of a standardized end-to-end communication solution between
sensors and their operator's IT system, using standard IPv6 and 6lowpan.
Field applications are for remote reading of meter sensors.
ZERO-RATE LOAN FOR INNOVATION (2014)
Amount: €1,000,000.00 (of which €970,000.00 received on 9 May 2014)
Interest rate: 0%
Repayment: from June 2017 to March 2022 (20 quarterly straight-line instalments)
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The terms of the loan include a grace period followed by a straight t-line amortization
Project: development of a full automated chain for the retrieval and management of connected
objects, dual frequency, for the remote reading of energy meters.
A sum of € 30,000 was deducted from the loan by BPI France Financing for instruction fees (VAT
exemption - Article 261 C of the CGI).
In accordance with IFRS 9 and IAS 20, this interest-free advance was initially recognized at fair value
and then at amortized cost. The discount rate used is 3%.
ZERO-RATE LOAN FOR INNOVATION (2017)
Amount: €1,000,000.00 (of which €970,000.00 received on 10 April 2017)
Interest rate: 0%
Repayment: from March 2019 to December 2023 (20 quarterly straight-line instalments)
The terms of the loan include a grace period followed by a straight t-line amortization
Project: development of a full automated chain for the retrieval and management of connected
objects, dual frequency, for the remote reading of energy meters.
A sum of € 30,000 was deducted from the loan by BPI France Financing for instruction fees (VAT
exemption - Article 261 C of the CGI).
In accordance with IFRS 9 and IAS 20, this interest-free advance was initially recognized at fair value
and then at amortized cost. The discount rate used is 1, 50%.
Repayable advance
Organisation
REGION BRETAGNE
+ RENNES METROPOLE

COFACE

Purpose of loan
FUI 15 - Greenfeed:
interoperable software
and hardware solutions
for charging electric
vehicles
Prospecting Insurance
Asia and Americas Internationalisation

Total

2018

2017

21

29

204

299

225

328

5.11. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The movements on the retirement benefit obligations account are as follows:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

At beginning of year
Current service cost

346

224

112

105

Impact of employees movements

(12)

16

Actuarial gain (loss) recognized in the year

0

1

Release of pension accrual

0

0

446

346

Closing amount
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The main assumptions used in the calculation of commitments under the projected unit credit method
for the Group are:
Assumptions

2018

2017

Discount rate

1,30%

1,30%

INSEE 2008-2010

INSEE 2008-2010

45,00%

45,00%

2,00%

2,00%

Accorded to current
legislation (*)

Accorded to current
legislation (*)

Weak (**)

Weak (**)

Life expectancy table
Rate of social security contributions
Increases in salaries
Retirement age
Turn-over
(*) cf. Law n°2014-40 du 20/01/2014 voted the 18/12/2013
(**) Source "DARES"

The discount rate is calculated by reference to the market rate as at 31 December, based on the
average rates of return on Tier 1 corporate bonds, including the IBOXX Corporates AA Index.
The liability is recorded in the balance sheet as a non-current liability for the total commitment amount.
The Group does not cover the retirement benefit obligation through payments to a fund. There is
therefore no rate of return on the corresponding assets.
5.12. SHARE – BASED PAYMENTS
Options are granted to certain officers and employees of the Group. The exercise price of options
granted is approved by Board of Directors and considers the market price at the date of grant of the
options. Options are subject to the completion of a period of service by the beneficiary (vesting period).
The options are exercisable after this period and have a total life of ten years.
The Group is not bound by any contractual or constructive obligation to redeem or settle the cash
options. The weighted average fair value of options granted during the period is determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model.
Date of final
award

Number of
options

Average
expected
option
period

BSPCE 2013

12/04/2013

13,800

7,5

€7,94

€4,29

BSPCE 2015

29/06/2015

5,000

7,5

€10,00

€3,41

BSPCE 2018

21/06/2018

37,000

6,5

€15,77

€4,51

BSA 2018

21/06/2018

2,500

6,5

€15,77

€4,51

AGA 2018

21/06/2018

10,000

6,5

NA

€14,77

Average
subscription
price

Fair value of
options

The movement in potential shares is as follows:
Number of options

2018

2017

At beginning of the year

75,200

75,200

Potential shares granted

49,500

0

Potential shares exercised

0

0

Potential shares expired / lost

0

0

124,700

75,200

At the end of the year
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As at 31 December 2018, a total of 124,700 potential shares are exercisable as the exercise dates for
each plan are exercised.
5.13. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND LOSSES

In thousands of euros

As at 01/01/2017

Provisions for
contingencies

Provisions
for losses

Total

0

77

77

Exchange differences

0

0

0

Scope variation

0

0

0

Additional provisions

50

18

68

Used during year

0

0

0

Unused amounts reversed

0

(37)

(37)

As at 31/12/2017

50

58

108

As at 01/01/2018

50

58

108

Exchange differences

0

0

0

Scope variation

0

0

0

0

47

47

(50)
0

0

(50)

(53)
52

(53)

Additional provisions
Used during year
Unused amounts reversed
As at 31/12/2018

0

52

Provisions for contingencies and losses relate mainly to provisions for guarantees.
5.14. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Tax and social security

1,997

1,620

4

110

2,384

2,249

2

173

4,387

4,151

Suppliers of fixed assets
Deferred income
Other payables
Total

Deferred income includes:
 The IFRS restatement of the Research Tax Credit,
 Operating grants received in advance for non-capitalized research programs,
 Sales of warranty extensions on equipment or other support services spanning several years.
5.15. CHANGES IN NET WORKING CAPITAL
Changes in the principal items of working capital requirements (NWC) for the years 2018 and 2017 are
as follows:
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In thousands of euros
Inventories
Trade accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Trade accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Change in net working capital

12.2018

12.2017

703
4,063

699
(3,374)

(81)
(1,382)

223
(1,782)

230

1,319

3,533

(2,914)

In 2018, the NWC represents 27% of the annualized 4th quarter's revenue, compared to 24% in 2017.
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5.16. MATURITY OF BORROWING AND LIABILITIES
Analysis of financial liabilities
In thousands of euros

Less than 1
year

Between Between
1 and 2 2 and 3
years
years

Between
3 and 4
years

Between
4 and 5
years

More
than 5
years

Total
liabilities

As at 31 December 2017
Bank loans

249

209

212

216

70

0

956

BPI France loans

246

452

379

387

245

198

1,907

Repayable advance

307

8

8

4

0

0

328

Factor

705

0

0

0

0

0

705

Borrowings

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,506

670

599

607

315

198

3,896

Trade accounts payable

3,862

0

0

0

0

0

3,862

Tax and social liabilities

Overdrafts

1,620

0

0

0

0

0

1,620

Supplier of fixed assets

110

0

0

0

0

0

110

Other debts

173

0

0

0

0

0

173

Deferred revenue

1,899

172

106

68

5

0

2,249

Total

9,170

842

705

675

320

198

11,909

Bank loans

209

212

216

70

0

0

708

BPI France loans

452

379

387

245

198

0

1,661

Repayable advance

212

13

0

0

0

0

225

1,389

0

0

0

0

0

1,389

Borrowings

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,263

604

603

315

198

0

3,983

Trade accounts payable

2,405

0

0

0

0

0

2,405

Tax and social liabilities

1,997

0

0

0

0

0

1,997

Supplier of fixed assets

4

0

0

0

0

0

4

Other debts

2

0

0

0

0

0

2

Deferred revenue

2,060

168

112

36

8

0

2,384

Total

8,731

772

715

351

206

0

10,775

As at 31 December 2018

Factor
Overdrafts
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5.17. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Carrying amount under IFRS 9
In thousands of euros

31/12/2018 31/12/2017

Fair value
through equity

Fair value
through
income

Carrying
amount

Carrying
amount

262

0

0

262

0

65
12

0

0

65

63

0

0

12

7

Trade accounts receivables

4,872

0

0

4,872

9,038

Cash and cash equivalents

0

0

11,856

11,856

13,999

Assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Deposits & sureties
Other non-current financial assets

Amortised
cost

Liabilities
Bank loans
BPI France loans

708

0

0

708

956

1,732

0

(71)

1,661

1,907

225

0

0

225

328

1,389

0

0

1,389

705

Overdrafts

0

0

0

0

0

Accrued interest

0

0

0

0

0

Repayable advance
Factor

Borrowing

4,053

0

(71)

3,983

3,896

Trade accounts payable

2,405

0

0

2,405

3,862

Tax and social liabilities

1,997

0

0

1,997

1,620

Suppliers of fixed assets

4

0

0

4

110

2

0

0

2

173

2,384

0

0

2,384

2,249

Other liabilities
Deferred revenue
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6. OTHER INFORMATION
6.1. OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Financial guarantees given and received on borrowing
The liabilities and borrowings listed below are already included in the Group’s balance sheet. The
following table only repeats these amounts when these borrowings are secured by securities.
The commitments received correspond to the guarantees of “BPI France Financement” on borrowings
secured by the Group up to a certain quota.
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

Guarantees given (guarantee, deposits,
pledge of (“Fond de commerce”)

1,890

2,201

402

462

Guarantees received – guarantee BPI France
Financement

Under certain financings agreements, the Group pledged as collateral its business value (goodwill and
customer base – “Fonds de commerce”) to the lending institutions in order to guarantee the repayment
of the said loans.
Other contractual obligations given
The other contractual obligations and significant commercial commitments, not included in the
balance sheet, are as follows as of the 31st December 2018:
Future aggregate minimum lease payments, non-cancellable (operating leases), discounted.
In thousands of euros
Total

- 1 year

1 to 5 years

+ 5 years

- Buildings

224

145

79

0

- Other operating leases

151

130

21

0

41

20

21

0

416

294

121

0

Other contractual obligations given

- Vehicles
Total

Amount recognized as an expense for the year 2018:
In thousands of euros
Other contractual obligations

Amounts
recognised in 2018

- Buildings

186

- Other operating leases

213

- Vehicles
Total

20
419

Other commitments:
To the Group’s knowledge, no other significant off-balance sheet commitments are in existence at the
end of the financial year.
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6.2. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net profit/(loss)
Basic
Weighted average shares outstanding
Net income per share (in €)
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding
Net income per share (in €)

2018

2017

(5,773)

(308)

5,086,104
(1,13)

4,532,581
(0,07)

5,187,549
N/A

4,616,510
N/A

Since the Group reported a loss, instruments are regarded as accretive. As a result, diluted earnings per
share are identical to basic earnings per share.
6.3. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In order to increase the gap with competitors in technology, the first axis of the Group's strategy, Kerlink
announced the acquisition, on January 8, 2019, of 51% of the fully diluted capital of the simplified joint
stock company Wyres.
Wyres has developed indoor geolocation technology for industries and multi-site operators. The addition
of this essential technological brick in the Group's strategy will be a vehicle for accelerating sales to
address its priority markets such as Smart Airports, Asset Tracking, Cities & Towns and the Industry &
Manufacturing sector.
Wyres will be included in the Group's consolidated financial statements from January 2019.
6.4. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
The Group considers as related parties:
 Shareholders with significant influence because of their percentage of ownership in the Group
and their seats on the Strategic Committee (Sodero Gestion and CM CIC)
 Key leaders of the Management Committee
 Members of the Board of Directors
 Vice-Presidents of the subsidiaries
Transactions with companies in which some members of the Group’s top management have significant
influence, are the following:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

99

94

0

1

Income statement
Rent
Management services provided
by the related party
Travelling expenses
Attendance fees

4

2

24

24

1

0

Balance sheet
Trade accounts payables due to
a related party
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6.5. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

In 2017, members of the Executive Committee were 6. The main decision-making body of the Group is
now the Strategic Committee, composed of 5 people.
Compensation and benefits provided to members of the Group Strategic Committee for their services
are detailed in the following table:
In thousands of euros

2018

2017

777

895

-

-

13

11

Termination benefits

-

-

Share-based-payments

0

0

790

906

Compensation (amounts paid
during the period)
Pension and other postemployment benefits
Other long-term benefits

Compensation

6.6. STATUTORY AUDITOR’S FEES
The Statutory Auditors' fees included in the income statement break down as follows:
2 & 2 AUDIT

DELOITTE

Others

35 Betton

35 Rennes

Singapore

Statutory audit, certification and
review of the individual and
consolidated statements

20

42

-

62

Parent company

20

36

-

56

Fully integrated subsidiaries

-

5

-

5

Other services

-

-

-

-

Statutory audit, certification and
review of the individual and
consolidated statements

21

113

13

147

Parent company

20

70

-

90

Fully integrated subsidiaries

-

8

13

21

- Regularisation N-1

1

35

-

36

Other services

-

13

-

13

In thousands of euros

2017

-

2018

-

Total

2&2 Audit was appointed by Shareholder’s Meeting on March 29, 2016.
Deloitte & Associés was appointed as joint Statutory Auditor by the Shareholders' Meeting on January
19, 2016.
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Consolidated Financial Statements IFRS
6.7 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
Group’s scope of consolidation is as follows:

Group
Kerlink SA

Country

Subsidiary of

France

Parent company

% of
interest
Date of entry
by the
Group

Subsidiaries of:
Kerlink Singapore Pte Ltd
Kerlink Inc.
Kerlink IoT Solutions India Pte Ltd
Kerlink Japan

Singapore

Kerlink SA

100

dec-15

United-States
India

Kerlink SA
Kerlink SA
Kerlink SA

100
100
100

jan-17
jul-17
oct-18

Japan
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KERLINK
Société anonyme
1 rue Jacqueline Auriol
35325 Thorigné-Fouillard

___________________________________
Statutory auditors' report on the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended December 31st, 2018

This is a translation into English of the statutory
auditors’ report on the financial statements of the
Company issued in French and it is provided solely for
the convenience of English speaking users.
This statutory auditors’ report includes information
required by French law, such as information about the
appointment of the statutory auditors or verification of
the management report and other documents provided
to shareholders.
This report should be read in conjunction with, and
construed in accordance with, French law and
professional auditing standards applicable in France.
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2&2 Audit
44 rue de Rennes
35138 Betton
Membre de la Compagnie
régionale de Rennes

Deloitte & Associés
7 avenue Charles Tillon
35000 Rennes
Membre de la Compagnie
régionale de Versailles

KERLINK

Société anonyme
1 rue Jacqueline Auriol
35325 Thorigné-Fouillard

_______________________________
Statutory auditors' report on the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended December 31st, 2018

_______________________________

To the general meeting of Kerlink,
Opinion
In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by your general meeting, we have
audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of KERLINK Company for the
year ended December 31st, 2018.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets
and liabilities and of the financial position of the Group as at December 31st, 2018 and of the
results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with French accounting
principles.
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Basis for Opinion
Audit Framework
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Statutory Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" section of our report.
Independence
We conducted our audit engagement in compliance with independence rules applicable to us,
for the period from January 1st, 2018 to the date of our report and specifically we did not
provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in the French Code of ethics (code de
déontologie) for statutory auditors.
Justification of Assessments
In accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 823-9 and R. 823-7 of the French
Commercial Code (code de commerce) relating to the justification of our assessments, we
inform you of the following assessments that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on specific items of the consolidated financial statements.


Notes 2.7 and 2.8 from the appendix define the accounting rules and methods related
to development costs’ recording. As part of our assessment of accounting policies
applied to your Company, we reviewed the methods used to capitalize development
costs and those applying to amortization and we checked their fair values and
ensured that notes 2.7 and 2.8 from the Appendix provide an appropriate level of
information.



The company records deferred tax credits corresponding to tax loss carried forwards
in accordance with the procedures described in notes 2.24 and 4.5. As part of our
assessment of accounting principles applied to your Company, we examined
underlying assumptions for recoverability of theses medium-term deficits and

2 l KERLINK l Statutory auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements l For the year ended December
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ensured that notes 2.24 and 4.5 from the Appendix provide an appropriate level of
information

Specific Verifications
As required by law, we have also verified in accordance with professional standards
applicable in France the information pertaining to the Group presented in the management
report of Board of Directors.
We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the
consolidated financial statements.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is
expected to liquidate the Company or to cease operations.
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors.
Statutory Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements
Our role is to issue a report on the consolidated financial statements. Our objective is to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
3 l KERLINK l Statutory auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements l For the year ended December
31st, 2018
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be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
As specified in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code, our statutory audit does
not include assurance on the viability of the Company or the quality of management of the
affairs of the Company.
As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France,
the statutory auditor exercises professional judgment throughout the audit and furthermore:


Identifies and assesses the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designs and performs
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtains audit evidence
considered to be sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for his opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.



Obtains an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal
control.



Evaluates the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management in the consolidated financial statements.



Assesses the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. This
assessment is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of his audit
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease
to continue as a going concern. If the statutory auditor concludes that a
material uncertainty exists, there is a requirement to draw attention in the
audit report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
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or, if such disclosures are not provided or inadequate, to modify the opinion
expressed therein.


Evaluates the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and
assesses whether these statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation



Obtains sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. The statutory auditor is
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the
consolidated financial statements and for the opinion expressed on these
consolidated financial statements.

Betton et Rennes, le 30 avril 2019
The Statutory Auditors
French original signed by

2&2 Audit

Deloitte & Associés

Jean-Christophe ROBIN

Guillaume RADIGUE
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CERTIFICATE OF THE PERSON IN CHARGE

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and results of the
Company and all the companies included in the consolidation, and that the management report presents a
true and fair view of the development of the business, results and financial position of the Company and all the
companies included in the consolidation and that it describes the main risks and uncertainties they are facing.

THORIGNÉ-FOUILLARD,
30 april 2019
Mr William GOUESBET,
Chief Executive Officer, Kerlink
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NAME AND HEAD OFFICE
KERLINK SA
1 Rue Jacqueline AURIOL
35235 THORIGNE FOUILLARD
TEL.: +33 2 99 12 29 00
FORM AND LEGISLATION
Société Anonyme (Limited liability company) with a Board of Directors
COMPANY AND TRADE REGISTRY & APE

6202A
RCS Rennes 477 840 441 - APE: 7112B
CONSULTATION OF THE DOCUMENTATION
All of the documents can be consulted at the head ofce:
KERLINK SA
1 Rue Jacqueline AURIOL
35235 THORIGNE FOUILLARD
Also on our Internet site: www.kerlink.com
FINANCIAL YEAR
From 1 January to 31 December of each year
SHARE CAPITAL AND VOTING RIGHTS
The share capital of KERLINK stands at €1,373,248.08€ at 31 December 2017,
2018 divided into 5,086,104 shares with
a par value of 0.27 euros and into 6,251,710 theoretical voting rights.
STATUTORY AUDITORS

PRODUCTION OF THE REPORT & CONTACTS

Deloitte & Associés
185 Avenue Charles de Gaulle
92200 Neuilly Sur Seine
Represented by Guillaume Radigue
Date appointed: General Shareholders' Meeting on
19 January 2016, for a duration of six nancial periods.

Robert CLAPHAM
Deputy General Manager

SARL 2 et 2 Audit
44 Rue de Rennes
35831 Betton cedex
Jean-Christophe
ROBIN
Represented by Emmanuel
Bourgeois
Date appointed: General Shareholders' Meeting on
29 March 2016, for a duration of six nancial periods.
End of the mandates: General Shareholders' Meeting
that will meet in 2022, to approve the nancial statements for the period ending 31 December 2021.
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Constance CHAPLET
In charge of nancial communication

Address:
KERLINK SA
1 Rue Jacqueline Auriol
35235 Thorigné-Fouillard
Telephone: + 33 2 99 12 29 00
Fax: + 33 2 99 12 29 11
Email: investors@kerlink.com
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